UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, SAN DIEGO

Insights into mechanism of alcohol mediated modulation of GIRK channels

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Biology

by

Prafulla Aryal

Committee in charge: Professor Paul A. Slesinger, Chair Professor Jeffry S. Isaacson Professor Joseph P. Noel Professor Gentry N. Patrick Professor Nicholas C. Spitzer

2010

UMI Number: 3390890

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI 3390890 Copyright 2010 by ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This edition of the work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

Copyright

Prafulla Aryal, 2010

All rights reserved

The Dissertation of Prafulla Aryal is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication on microfilm and electronically:

Chair

University of California, San Diego

2010

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to four important women in my life, my grandmothers Bishnu Maya Aryal, and Prithibi Kumari Gautam, my mother Manju Sharma, and my wife Samjhana Rimal Aryal. They have all taught me the importance of love, family and education in their own special way.

Signature Page	iii	
Dedication Pagei		
Table of Contents		
List of Figures		
Acknowledgements	viii	
Vita	х	
Abstract of the Dissertation	xi	
I. Introduction		
Basis of cellular excitability	1	
Inwardly rectifying K channels	3	
G-protein gated inwardly rectifying K channels	4	
Crystal structures of inwardly rectifying K channels	5	
Modulation of ion channels by ethanol	6	
The alcohol pocket of GABA _A and Gly Receptors	7	
Structure of a hydrophobic pocket of LUSH protein	8	
GIRKs and alcohol	8	
References	11	
II. Evidence for a discrete alcohol pocket in GIRK channel activation		
Abstract	17	
Introduction	17	
Results	20	
Discussion	26	
Acknowledgements	31	
Materials and methods	32	
Figures	36	
References	49	
III. Insights into mechanism of alcohol mediated activation of GIRK channels		

Table of Contents

	Abstract	54
	Introduction	54
	Results	55
	Discussion	60
	Acknowledgements	62
	Materials and methods	62
	Figures	65
	References	69
IV. Discussion		71
	A model for alcohol mediated activation of GIRK channels	71
	Convergences of alcohol and $G\beta\gamma$ activation at the hydrophobic pocket	72
	Alcohol binding motifs	73
	Summary	74
	Future perspective	75
	Figures	76
	References	77

List of Figures

Fig. 2.1	A conserved alcohol-binding pocket in IRK1 and GIRK2 channels	36
Fig. 2.2	MPD activates GIRK2 in a manner similar to other alcohols	37
Fig. 2.3	Ala/Trp scan of the hydrophobic alcohol-binding pocket in GIRK2	38
Fig. 2.4	Comprehensive mutagenesis of GIRK2-L257 in β D- β E ribbon of hydrophobic alcohol-binding pocket reveals changes in alcohol- and G $\beta\gamma$ -activated currents	39
Fig. 2.5	Reduced alcohol activation with increasing bulkiness of amino acid substitutions at GIRK2-L257	40
Fig. 2.6	Mutations in the hydrophobic alcohol-binding pocket of GIRK4* alter- activated currents	41
Fig. 2.7	Mutations in the hydrophobic alcohol-binding pocket of IRK1 have no effect on alcohol-dependent inhibition	42
Fig. 2.8	Model for alcohol-dependent activation of GIRK channels	43
Fig. 2.S1	Dual modulation of GIRK2 by 1-PeOH	44
Fig. 2.S2	Assay to detect surface expression of mutant channels	45
Fig. 2.S3	Mutations L342 and Y349 in the β L- β M loop of GIRK2 reduce both alcohol and/or m2R-activated currents	46
Fig. 2.S4	Mutations in GIRK4 pore-helix converts 1-BuOH from an inhibitor to activator	47
Fig. 2.S5	Site for regulating sensitivity to alcohol-dependent inhibition	48
Fig. 3.1	Effect of MTS modification of wild-type GIRK2 and GIRK2 ^(cys-)	65
Fig. 3.2	F-MTS modifies GIRK2 ^(cys-) -S246C	66
Fig. 3.3	Effects of PIP_2 depletion on basal and alcohol induced currents	67
Fig. 3.4	Alcohol increases nP_o of GIRK channels at a single channel level	68
Fig. 4.1	A model of mechanism of GIRK channel activation	76

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my mentor, Paul Slesinger, for giving me the opportunity to study in his laboratory. He gave me exposure to the most innovative technologies, the expertise to use these technologies, and forums to present my ideas and meet other scientists. He has encouraged me to always pursue the truth, no matter what the results might be. I am in awe of his moderate temperament, humility, patience and dedication which makes him a great mentor. He leads by example, and he has helped me become a better scientist, a better friend, a better family person, and a better human being that is a steward of the planet.

I also would like to thank the UCSD Biology graduate program for giving me the great opportunity to study in such a rich scientific community. My dissertation committee members, Nick Spitzer, Gentry Patrick, Jeff Isaacson, and Joe Noel, and formerly Marla Feller, have helped me throughout my studies by giving me positive and constructive advice. I would like to thank Senyon Choe, Hay Dvir, and Scott Pegan for helping me with their expertise in structure biology. I thank all of the members of the Slesinger lab who have helped me throughout my studies. Bartosz Balana, Claire Padgett, Stephanie Boyer, Rounak Nassirpour, Michaelanne Munoz, Laia Bahima, Catherine Fowler, Josh Tan, Steven Thomas and Natalie Taylor have helped me scientifically and as good friends. The graduate and undergraduate students that I have taught have taught me how to be a better instructor and a mentor. I thank the larger PBL family, especially Debbie Doan for all of her administrative work that helped me do my scientific work more efficiently; and Tsung-Chang Sung for teaching me advanced cloning.

viii

My family has been very supportive of my choice to pursue my interests in biology. Above all, I thank my parents for all their sacrifices to provide a better life for my brothers and me. My brothers, Prashanta and Prasiddha, my sister, Neeta, and my cousins, have encouraged and challenged me throughout my journey. I thank my wife, Samjhana, who has been at my side through the ups and downs of graduate school. I would not be this far in my journey without her unwavering dedication and endless love for me and our son Neilesh.

Chapter two was published in Nature Neuroscience. I was the primary author, and the chair of my thesis committee was the senior author. Permission to use this work as a part of my dissertation has been obtained from Hay Dvir, and Senyon Choe, the two other co-authors. I conducted all of the primary work for Chapter three, part of which was submitted as an abstract to be presented at the 54th Annual Biophysical Society meeting in 2010.

Vita

2003 B.A., Majors: MCD-Biology, & Biochemistry, Minor: Chemistry

summa cum laude, University of Colorado-Boulder

2010 Ph.D. Biology emphasis: Neurobiology, University of California-San Diego

Publications:

Aryal P, Dvir H, Choe S, Slesinger PA. A discrete alcohol pocket involved in GIRK channel activation. *Nat Neurosci* 2009 Aug 12(8):988-95.

Fowler CE, **Aryal P**, Suen KF, Slesinger PA. Evidence for association of GABAB receptors with Kir3 channels and regulators of G protein signaling (RGS4) proteins *J. Physiol.* 2007 580:51-65

Lin W, Dominguez B, Yang J, **Aryal P**, Brandon EP, Gage FH and Lee K-F. Neurotransmitter acetylcholine negatively regulates neuromuscular synapse formation by a Cdk5-dependent mechanism. *Neuron.* 2005 May 19;46(4):569-79

Dance AL, Miller M, Seragaki S, **Aryal P**, White B, Aschenbrenner L, Hasson T. Regulation of myosin-VI targeting to endocytic compartments. *Traffic*. 2004 Oct;5(10):798-813.

Martindale JJ, Wall JA, Martinez-Longoria DM, **Aryal P**, Rockman HA, Guo Y, Bolli R, Glembotski CC. Overexpression of Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Kinase 6 in the Heart Improves Functional Recovery from Ischemia in Vitro and Protects against Myocardial Infarction in Vivo. *J Biol Chem.* 2005 Jan 7;280(1):669-76.

Lucas DT, **Aryal P**, Szweda LI, Koch WJ, Leinwand LA. Alterations in mitochondrial function in a mouse model of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2003 Feb; 284(2):H575-83.

Awards:

Selected for Biophysical Society Student Travel Award
Selected for Gordon Research Conference
NRSA Pre-doctoral Fellowship (NIAAA)
American Heart Association Pre-doctoral Fellowship
Soler Award for students pursuing post-graduate research
Minority Arts and Science Program Fellowship

Abstract of the Dissertation

Insights into mechanism of alcohol mediated modulation of GIRK channels

by

Prafulla Aryal

Doctor of Philosophy in Biology

University of California, San Diego, 2010

Professor Paul A. Slesinger, Chair

Ion channels are proteins that control the flow of ions in and out of the cell. They are important in many aspects of human physiology such as muscle contraction, sensory perception, thought and behavior. Ethanol is the most common drug of abuse worldwide. Ethanol modulates numerous ion channels, but the exact mechanism of modulation has been elusive. My dissertation investigates how ethanol and other alcohols modulate the activity of G-protein gated inwardly rectifying potassium (GIRK) channels.

GIRK channels are members of the inwardly rectifying potassium channel family that regulate the resting membrane potential of excitable cells. They are ubiquitously expressed in the brain and the heart. In the neurons, opening of GIRK channel leads to inhibition of neuronal firing. Ethanol activates GIRK channel in neurons. However, exactly how ethanol activates GIRK channels is not known.

In this dissertation, I first used structure-based mutagenesis and electrophysiology to determine that alcohols act on a hydrophobic pocket in the

xi

cytoplasmic domain of GIRK channels resulting in channel activation. To strengthen this finding, I used thiol modifying reagents targeted to the hydrophobic pocket to show that this pocket is important for activation of GIRK channels.

To determine the mechanism of this alcohol mediated activation of GIRK channels, I studied the requirement of G-proteins and PIP₂ and found that alcohol activates GIRK channels in a G-protein independent, but PIP₂ dependent manner. I then studied single channel properties of alcohol activated GIRK channels. I found that alcohols increase the frequency of channel opening. Combining structural models and functional data, I present a novel model for alcohol mediated activation of GIRK channels. In this model, alcohol facilitates spontaneous opening of GIRK channels by binding to the hydrophobic alcohol pocket and opening its cytoplasmic gate. This work contributes to our fundamental understanding of how ethanol modulates ion channels and how GIRK channels are gated.

I. Introduction

The living cell consists of hereditary information and a machinery to transcribe and, translate that information into proteins enabling the cell to divide and form a population of cells that respond to extracellular cues. These cues enable the cells to differentiate into various cell types based on intricate developmental programming. In the brain, these differentiated neuronal cells communicate with each other by a mechanism of cellular excitability. It is this cellular excitability that controls firing of neuronal networks that lead to higher nervous system functions such as sensory perception, movement, memory, and thought. And consequently modulation of this excitability by chemicals such as alcohols leads to alteration in the nervous system functions.

Basis of cellular excitability

Neurons, like all cells, segregate themselves from the environment with a lipid rich plasma membrane that prohibits large molecules and charged ions from readily flowing in and out of the cell. The plasma membrane is inherently polarized due to the presence of negatively charged head groups of phospholipids in the inner leaflet of plasma membrane. Ion channels, along with transporters and pumps, regulate the salt concentrations inside the cell. The inherent polarization of the membrane, along with the regulated difference in salt concentration confers an electrochemical gradient that governs excitability of neurons. Ion channels are proteins that selectively allow ions to pass through the plasma membrane according to its electrochemical gradient. For example, there is more potassium inside of the cell than outside. If potassium channels open, potassium (K⁺) ions will flow out of the cell through the channel to equalize the concentration difference until they reach their reversal potential. At rest, the cell is hyperpolarized (negatively charged), with higher concentration of sodium (Na⁺) and chloride (Cl⁻) on the outside, and potassium on the inside. If positive ions flow into the cell, via opening of cation permeable ion channels, then the cell becomes depolarized (positively charged). If this depolarization reaches a certain threshold, it leads to firing of an action potential in the neuron in a feed forward mechanism where voltage sensitive sodium channels sense the depolarization, and open, allowing more Na⁺ to flow inside the cell, propagating the depolarization along the cell. To terminate this firing, voltage sensitive potassium channels open, leading to outward flow of K⁺ to hyperpolarize the cell back to a resting membrane potential.

The basis of neuronal excitability as it relates to ion channels was discovered in many phases. Classical biophysical experiments using intracellular electrodes in giant squid axons led Kenneth S. Cole and colleagues to determine that membrane conductance increases during neuronal firing (Cole, 1934; Cole and Curtis, 1939). Subsequently, using voltage clamping methods, Hodgkin, Huxley and colleagues determined that Na⁺ and K⁺ are the primary ions involved in firing of the neuron (Hodgkin and Huxley, 1945, 1952; Hodgkin *et al.*, 1952). Later, Hille, Armstrong and colleagues used selective toxins and drugs to block Na⁺ and K⁺ currents during action potentials, which demonstrated that these conductances are separable and thus might involve selective channels (Armstrong, 1966; Armstrong, 1971; Hille, 1966, 1967, 1970). Ultimately, Jan and colleagues cloned ion channel genes, which led to studying the membrane topology, subunit stoichiometry, and functional properties of ion channels in heterologous expression systems (Jan and Jan, 1997; Papazian *et al.*, 1987). Recent endeavors in obtaining the 3D crystal structure of ion channels has led to a structure-based functional approach to determine the mechanism of ion channel function (Doyle *et al.*, 1998; MacKinnon, 2003). With the fundamental knowledge of cellular excitability, and the visual insight of the structures of ion channel biology.

Inwardly rectifying K channels

Channels of the inwardly rectifying potassium family (Kir) conduct K⁺ ions into the cell better than out because of physical occlusion of the pore by cytoplasmic polyamines and Mg⁺⁺ (Lopatin *et al.*, 1994; Matsuda *et al.*, 1987). Therefore, they are not involved during the action potential but contribute to maintaining resting membrane potential. However, opening of these channels at resting membrane potential leads to hyperpolarization of the cell, decreasing excitability. ROMK1 (Kir1.1) and IRK1 (or Kir2.1) were the first inward rectifiers to be cloned; now the family of Kir channels includes Kir1 - Kir7(Ho *et al.*, 1993; Kubo *et al.*, 2005; Kubo *et al.*, 1993a). Kir channels are characterized by a tetrameric assembly, with subunits having intracellular N- and C- termini with two transmembrane domains, and a pore loop between the transmembrane domains which serves as a K⁺ selectivity filter (Doupnik *et al.*, 1995; Nichols and Lopatin, 1997). Kir channels differ from classical voltage-gated K channels in that they lack the four additional transmembrane domains that include the voltage sensor. These Kir channels have evolved different mechanisms of opening and closing, such as sensitivity to pH, phospholipids, ATP and many other modulators. Of importance to my studies, IRK (Kir2.1-Kir2.3) channels are constitutively active and thus have a large basal current (Kubo *et al.*, 1993a). GIRK (Kir3.1 to 3.4) channels are typically closed (small basal current) and are activated by $G\alpha$ i/o coupled G protein coupled receptors (Kubo *et al.*, 1993b; Pfaffinger *et al.*, 1985). All Kir channel family are directly activated by phospholipids phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) (Huang *et al.*, 1998; Schulze *et al.*, 2003; Zhang *et al.*, 1999). Zhang *et al.* showed that increased affinity of IRK1 for PIP₂ affinity (Zhang *et al.*, 1999) leading to channels with small basal currents.

G-protein gated inwardly rectifying K channels

Four different GIRK channel subunits are expressed in the nervous system (Dascal *et al.*, 1993; Karschin *et al.*, 1996; Krapivinsky *et al.*, 1995; Kubo *et al.*, 1993b; Lesage *et al.*, 1994). GIRK1, GIRK2 and GIRK3 are expressed in various combinations in different loci of the brain, while the expression of GIRK4 is low in the brain (Karschin *et al.*, 1996). GIRK1 and GIRK3 require co-assembly with other GIRK subunits, while GIRK2 subunits can form functional homotetramers (Dascal *et al.*, 1993; Jelacic *et al.*, 1999; Liao *et al.*, 1996; Schoots *et al.*, 1999). GIRK channels are activated by inhibitory neurotransmitters that couple to G-protein (G α i/o) coupled receptors, such as GABA_B, Muscarinic₂, 5-hydroxytryptamine₁, and opioid receptors (Nicoll *et al.*, 1990). Upon receptor stimulation, G $\beta\gamma$ subunits of the trimeric G-protein

complex are activated – $G\beta\gamma$ subunits bind directly to and activate GIRK channels (Logothetis *et al.*, 1987; Reuveny *et al.*, 1994) . Infact, GIRK were one of the first proteins identified that are activated by the $G\beta\gamma$ subunits. At resting membrane potentials, this activation leads to efflux of K⁺ that decreases membrane excitability of neurons (Hille, 1992). Consequently, mice lacking GIRK2 exhibit increased spontaneous and pharmacologically induced seizures, as compared to wild-type mice (Signorini *et al.*, 1997) and lose a GABA mediated slow inhibitory post synaptic potential that is driven through activation of GABA_B receptor coupled with GIRK channels (Luscher *et al.*, 1997).

Crystal structures of inwardly rectifying K channels

Crystal structures of the intracellular domain of GIRK1, GIRK2 and IRK1 (Kir3.1, Kir3.2 and Kir2.1) have been published (Nishida and MacKinnon, 2002; Pegan *et al.*, 2006; Pegan *et al.*, 2005). These structures were obtained from protein crystals that have the distal N-terminus fused directly to the C-terminus. These cytoplasmic domain assemble in a tetrameric fashion to create a cytoplasmic ion conduction pathway, where the ion conduction path is lined with acidic and hydrophobic residues to accommodate polyamine block which results in inward rectification (Inanobe *et al.*, 2007; Nishida and MacKinnon, 2002; Pegan *et al.*, 2005). The core structures of Kir3.1 and of Kir2.1 readily superimpose, thus indicating that family members of Kir family have similar structures. Furthermore, a second gate, an intracellular "G loop" has been proposed as a gating ring, because this ring would occlude K⁺ ion permeation in a closed state. Recently, crystal structures of full length Kir channels were solved (Nishida *et al.*, 2007). This was done by fusing the N- and

C- terminal domains of GIRK1 with the bacterial Kirbac1.3 channel's transmembrane domain (Nishida *et al.*, 2007). Upon solving the crystals Nishida *et al.* noticed that there were two distinct conformation states of the cytoplasmic domains. In one of the structures, the "G-loop" was in the "open" position, and in a second structure it was in the "closed" position in which K^+ ions could not pass.

Modulation of ion channels by ethanol

Ethanol is a major drug of addiction and abuse in the US and worldwide. Deaths from alcohol-related cases were over 100,000 per year in the United States, and the National Institute of Alcohol Abuse and Addiction estimated overall economic cost of alcohol abuse per year to be greater than \$ 150 billion (NIAAA, (McGinnis and Foege, 1999)). Consumption of ethanol alters central nervous system and cardiovascular system functions, and is metabolized in the liver by the enzyme alcohol dehydrogenase. Abuse of alcohol can lead to addiction and other mental illnesses, cardiovascular diseases, and liver injury. Acute consumption of alcohol leads to mild stimulation that is followed by an overall increase in inhibition of the central nervous system (reviewed in (Deitrich et al., 1989)). Historically, ethanol was generally thought to exert its effect by altering the physiochemical properties of membranes, however, new evidence suggests that ethanol exerts its effect by acting directly and specifically on a number of ion channels. GABAA receptors, NMDA receptors, glycine receptors, acetylcholine receptors, 5HT₃ receptors, purinergic receptors, voltage gated K channels, TRPV and TRPM, and GIRK channels have all been shown to be sensitive to ethanol in the milimolar range (Benedikt et al., 2007; Cardoso et al., 1999; Harris, 1999; Kobayashi et al., 1999; Lewohl et al., 1999; Li et *al.*, 1993; Lovinger *et al.*, 1989; Mihic *et al.*, 1997; Trevisani *et al.*, 2002; Yu *et al.*, 1996; Zhou and Lovinger, 1996). This correlates with levels present in an intoxicated person in the 0.1% range (~20 mM blood alcohol)

The alcohol pocket of GABA_A and Gly Receptors

 $GABA_A$ and Glycine Receptors are part of the cys loop family of ion channels, which have been extensively studied to implicate a hydrophobic pocket in the transmembrane domain in response to ethanol modulation (Jung et al., 2005; Mihic et al., 1997). These channels sense the inhibitory neurotransmitters in the brain, GABA or Glycine, and upon opening conduct Cl⁻ to hyperpolarize the cell. Harris et al. first reported that 10 mM ethanol potentiates GABA_A currents in a heterologous system (Harris et al., 1995). Furthermore, this group showed that primary alcohols up to dodecanol potentiate GABA_A currents (Dildy-Mayfield et al., 1996). Mihic et al. subsequently reported that while GlyR channels are potentiated by ethanol, ethanol reduces the activity of GABA p1 channels. However, substituting transmembrane domain 2 (TM2) and transmembrane domain 3 (TM3) of GlyR into GABA_A p1 channel confers ethanol sensitivity to GABA_A p1 channel (Mihic et al., 1997). Furthermore, mutating amino acids S270I of TM2 or A291W of TM3 in GABA_A α 1 to that GABA_A ρ 1 led to significant loss of ethanol mediated potentiation of these channels (Mihic et al., 1997). Additional experiments using thiol reactive groups that mimic alcohol at this pocket suggest that presence of hydrophobic group at this site in GlyR potentiates GlyR currents (Mascia et al., 2000). It is hypothesized that a physical hydrophobic pocket or a groove exists at the intersection between TM2 and TM3, where ethanol can bind and potentiate GABA or glycine mediated currents. However, there is no

high resolution structural data of this hydrophobic pocket and its interaction with ethanol.

Structure of a hydrophobic pocket of LUSH protein

The first high resolution structure of a hydrophobic pocket of an ethanol bindng protein was recently solved. The dorsophila odorant binding protein LUSH was crystallized with ethanol and other alcohols (Kruse *et al.*, 2003). The revealed structure shows that the hydrophobic pocket exists at the intersection of two alpha helices, where hydrophobic amino acids from one helix interact with the hydrocarbons of ethanol, while the –OH group of ethanol interacts with –OH groups from the sidechains of serine and threonine and a carbonyl group from the backbone of the second alpha helix. Furthermore, using NMR spectroscopy this group showed that larger alcohols were more effective in stabilizing the conformations (Bucci *et al.*, 2006; Kruse *et al.*, 2003). These studies show that discrete hydrophobic pockets for alcohol binding exist in proteins, and that alcohols can stabilize conformational changes upon binding.

GIRKs and alcohol

The initial evidence for ethanol mediated activation of GIRK channels came in back-to-back publications in Nature Neuroscience in 1999 (Kobayashi *et al.*, 1999; Lewohl *et al.*, 1999). Lewohl *et al.* showed that 75 mM ethanol can potentiate GABA_B mediated GIRK channel activation in dissociated cerebellar granual neurons (Lewohl *et al.*, 1999). GIRK channels are also activated by ethanol in heterologous

expression system of *xenopus oocytes* (Kobayashi *et al.*, 1999; Lewohl *et al.*, 1999). Ethanol mediated activation was present with antisense RNA for the G-protein β 1, suggesting that ethanol activation is independent of G $\beta\gamma$ activation (Kobayashi *et al.*, 1999). Experiments with n-alcohol series, determined that small alcohols, (methanol, ethanol, propanol) were able to activate GIRK1/GIRK2 heterotetramers in an increasing manner whereas larger alcohols such as 1-butanol had a blunted activation, and 1-pentanol inhibited the GIRK channel currents (Kobayashi *et al.*, 1999). This result led to the hypothesis that a hydrophobic pocket with discrete size exists in the GIRK channel. Deleting a large portion of the distal C-terminal domain of GIRK2 channels led to loss of activation by ethanol implicating the cytoplasmic domains in being important for ethanol sensitivity (Lewohl *et al.*, 1999). However, the site and mechanism for activation of GIRK channel by ethanol has been elusive.

Subsequent studies have examined the role of GIRK channel in ethanol mediated behavior. Mice lacking GIRK2 channels have diminished alcohol mediated analgesia as compared to wild-type mice (Blednov *et al.*, 2003). These knockout mice also self-administer more ethanol than wild-type littermates (Blednov *et al.*, 2001). However, GIRK2 knockout mice failed to develop conditional place preference for ethanol as compared to wild-type mice (Hill *et al.*, 2003) suggesting that GIRK channels are involved, in part, in addiction by alcohol. GIRK3 channels have also been implicated in ethanol-related behavior. The GIRK3 gene in included in a 0.44 Mb region of chromosome 1 that was identified as a qualitative trait locus associated with large effects on withdrawal following ethanol exposure (Kozell *et al.*, 2009). Furthermore, it was found that GIRK3 knockout mice exhibit less severe withdrawal form ethanol and other sedatives (Kozell *et al.*, 2009). These results suggest the

GIRK channels are involved in multiple ethanol related behavior, such as analgesia, and addiction. In fact, ethanol potentiates a slow inhibitory post synaptic potential (s-IPSP) in midbrain dopaminergic neurons that are implicated in addiction (Federici *et al.*, 2009). This s-IPSP is a result of GABA_B receptor mediated activation of GIRK channel. Increasing evidence suggests that GIRK channels are important in alcohol related behaviors.

Although GIRK channels are known to be activated by ethanol, the mechanism of modulation is not known. In this dissertation I will present evidence for direct modulation of GIRK channels by alcohols. Using a recently solved cytoplasmic structure of IRK1 crystallized with a pentanediol as a launching point, structure as a launching point, I have conducted mutagenesis of GIRK2 channels to elucidate a novel hydrophobic pocket in the cytoplasmic domain of these channels as being the site for activation by ethanol and other alcohols. Chapter II is original work which describes these findings and was published as <u>Aryal P, Dvir H, Choe S, and</u> <u>Slesinger PA, A discrete alcohol pocket involved in GIRK channel activation *Nature* <u>Neurosci 2009 Aug 12(8) 988-95</u>. In chapter III, I will describe and new experiments and models that give insight into the mechanism of alcohol mediated activation of GIRK channels. In chapter IV, I will conclude by discussing my findings and giving a future perspective for the fields of GIRK channel and alcohol.</u>

References

Armstrong, C. (1966). Interference of injected tetra-n-propyl-ammonium bromide with outward sodium ion current in squid giant axons. Nature *211*, 322-323.

Armstrong, C.M. (1971). Interaction of tetraethylammonium ion derivatives with the potassium channels of giant axons. J. Gen. Physiol. *59*, 413-413.

Benedikt, J., Teisinger, J., Vyklicky, L., and Vlachova, V. (2007). Ethanol inhibits coldmenthol receptor TRPM8 by modulating its interaction with membrane phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate. Journal of neurochemistry *100*, 211-224.

Blednov, Y.A., Stoffel, M., Alva, H., and Harris, R.A. (2003). A pervasive mechanism for analgesia: activation of GIRK2 channels. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 277-282.

Blednov, Y.A., Stoffel, M., Chang, S.R., and Harris, R.A. (2001). Potassium channels as targets for ethanol: studies of G-protein-coupled inwardly rectifying potassium channel 2 (GIRK2) null mutant mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther *298*, 521-530.

Bucci, B.K., Kruse, S.W., Thode, A.B., Alvarado, S.M., and Jones, D.N. (2006). Effect of n-alcohols on the structure and stability of the Drosophila odorant binding protein LUSH. Biochemistry *45*, 1693-1701.

Cardoso, R.A., Brozowski, S.J., Chavez-Noriega, L.E., Harpold, M., Valenzuela, C.F., and Harris, R.A. (1999). Effects of ethanol on recombinant human neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors expressed in Xenopus oocytes. J Pharmacol Exp Ther *289*, 774-780.

Cole, K.S. (1934). Alternating Current Conductance and Direct Current Excitation of Nerve. Science 79, 164-165.

Cole, K.S., and Curtis, H.J. (1939). Electric Impedance of the Squid Giant Axon During Activity. J Gen Physiol *22*, 649-670.

Dascal, N., Schreibmayer, W., Lim, N.F., Wang, W., Chavkin, C., DiMagno, L., Labarca, C., Kieffer, B.L., Gaveriaux-Ruff, C., Trollinger, D., and *et al.* (1993). Atrial G protein-activated K+ channel: expression cloning and molecular properties. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *90*, 10235-10239.

Deitrich, R.A., Dunwiddie, T.V., Harris, R.A., and Erwin, V.G. (1989). Mechanism of action of ethanol: initial central nervous system actions. Pharmacol Rev *41*, 489-537.

Dildy-Mayfield, J.E., Mihic, S.J., Liu, Y., Deitrich, R.A., and Harris, R.A. (1996). Actions of long chain alcohols on GABAA and glutamate receptors: relation to in vivo effects. British journal of pharmacology *118*, 378-384.

Doupnik, C.A., Davidson, N., and Lester, H.A. (1995). The inward rectifier potassium channel family. Curr Opin Neurobiol *5*, 268-277.

Doyle, D.A., Morais Cabral, J., Pfuetzner, R.A., Kuo, A., Gulbis, J.M., Cohen, S.L., Chait, B.T., and MacKinnon, R. (1998). The structure of the potassium channel: molecular basis of K+ conduction and selectivity. Science *280*, 69-77.

Federici, M., Nistico, R., Giustizieri, M., Bernardi, G., and Mercuri, N.B. (2009). Ethanol enhances GABAB-mediated inhibitory postsynaptic transmission on rat midbrain dopaminergic neurons by facilitating GIRK currents. Eur J Neurosci *29*, 1369-1377.

Harris, R.A. (1999). Ethanol actions on multiple ion channels: which are important? Alcohol Clin Exp Res *23*, 1563-1570.

Harris, R.A., Proctor, W.R., McQuilkin, S.J., Klein, R.L., Mascia, M.P., Whatley, V., Whiting, P.J., and Dunwiddie, T.V. (1995). Ethanol increases GABAA responses in cells stably transfected with receptor subunits. Alcohol Clin Exp Res *19*, 226-232.

Hill, K.G., Alva, H., Blednov, Y.A., and Cunningham, C.L. (2003). Reduced ethanolinduced conditioned taste aversion and conditioned place preference in GIRK2 null mutant mice. Psychopharmacology *169*, 108-114.

Hille, B. (1966). Common mode of action of three agents that decrease the transient change in sodium permeability in nerves. Nature *210*, 1220-1222.

Hille, B. (1967). The selective inhibition of delayed potassium currents in nerve by tetraethylammonium ion. J Gen Physiol *50*, 1287-1302.

Hille, B. (1970). Ionic channels in nerve membranes. Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. 21, 1-32.

Hille, B. (1992). G protein-coupled mechanisms and nervous signaling. Neuron *9*, 187-195.

Ho, K., Nichols, C.G., Lederer, W.J., Lytton, J., Vassilev, P.M., Kanazirska, M.V., and Hebert, S.C. (1993). Cloning and expression of an inwardly rectifying ATP-regulated potassium channel. Nature *362*, 31-38.

Hodgkin, A.L., and Huxley, A.F. (1945). Resting and action potentials in single nerve fibres. J Physiol *104*, 176-195.

Hodgkin, A.L., and Huxley, A.F. (1952). Currents carried by sodium and potassium ions through the membrane of the giant axon of Loligo. J Physiol *116*, 449-472.

Hodgkin, A.L., Huxley, A.F., and Katz, B. (1952). Measurement of current-voltage relations in the membrane of the giant axon of Loligo. J Physiol *116*, 424-448.

Huang, C.L., Feng, S., and Hilgemann, D.W. (1998). Direct activation of inward rectifier potassium channels by PIP2 and its stabilization by Gbetagamma. Nature *391*, 803-806.

Inanobe, A., Matsuura, T., Nakagawa, A., and Kurachi, Y. (2007). Structural Diversity in the Cytoplasmic Region of G Protein-Gated Inward Rectifier K+ Channels Channels *1* 39-45

Jan, L.Y., and Jan, Y.N. (1997). Cloned potassium channels from eukaryotes and prokaryotes. Annual review of neuroscience *20*, 91-123.

Jelacic, T.M., Sims, S.M., and Clapham, D.E. (1999). Functional expression and characterization of G-protein-gated inwardly rectifying K+ channels containing GIRK3. J Membr Biol *169*, 123-129.

Jung, S., Akabas, M.H., and Harris, R.A. (2005). Functional and structural analysis of the GABAA receptor alpha 1 subunit during channel gating and alcohol modulation. J Biol Chem *280*, 308-316.

Karschin, C., Dissmann, E., Stuhmer, W., and Karschin, A. (1996). IRK(1-3) and GIRK(1-4) inwardly rectifying K+ channel mRNAs are differentially expressed in the adult rat brain. J Neurosci *16*, 3559-3570.

Kobayashi, T., Ikeda, K., Kojima, H., Niki, H., Yano, R., Yoshioka, T., and Kumanishi, T. (1999). Ethanol opens G-protein-activated inwardly rectifying K+ channels. Nat Neurosci *2*, 1091-1097.

Kozell, L.B., Walter, N.A., Milner, L.C., Wickman, K., and Buck, K.J. (2009). Mapping a barbiturate withdrawal locus to a 0.44 Mb interval and analysis of a novel null mutant identify a role for Kcnj9 (GIRK3) in withdrawal from pentobarbital, zolpidem, and ethanol. J Neurosci *29*, 11662-11673.

Krapivinsky, G., Gordon, E.A., Wickman, K., Velimirovic, B., Krapivinsky, L., and Clapham, D.E. (1995). The G-protein-gated atrial K+ channel IKACh is a heteromultimer of two inwardly rectifying K(+)-channel proteins. Nature *374*, 135-141.

Kruse, S.W., Zhao, R., Smith, D.P., and Jones, D.N. (2003). Structure of a specific alcohol-binding site defined by the odorant binding protein LUSH from Drosophila melanogaster. Nature structural biology *10*, 694-700.

Kubo, Y., Adelman, J.P., Clapham, D.E., Jan, L.Y., Karschin, A., Kurachi, Y., Lazdunski, M., Nichols, C.G., Seino, S., and Vandenberg, C.A. (2005). International Union of Pharmacology. LIV. Nomenclature and molecular relationships of inwardly rectifying potassium channels. Pharmacol Rev *57*, 509-526.

Kubo, Y., Baldwin, T.J., Jan, Y.N., and Jan, L.Y. (1993a). Primary structure and functional expression of a mouse inward rectifier potassium channel. Nature *362*, 127-133.

Kubo, Y., Reuveny, E., Slesinger, P.A., Jan, Y.N., and Jan, L.Y. (1993b). Primary structure and functional expression of a rat G-protein-coupled muscarinic potassium channel. Nature *364*, 802-806.

Lesage, F., Duprat, F., Fink, M., Guillemare, E., Coppola, T., Lazdunski, M., and Hugnot, J.P. (1994). Cloning provides evidence for a family of inward rectifier and G-protein coupled K+ channels in the brain. FEBS Lett *353*, 37-42.

Lewohl, J.M., Wilson, W.R., Mayfield, R.D., Brozowski, S.J., Morrisett, R.A., and Harris, R.A. (1999). G-protein-coupled inwardly rectifying potassium channels are targets of alcohol action. Nat Neurosci *2*, 1084-1090.

Li, C., Aguayo, L., Peoples, R.W., and Weight, F.F. (1993). Ethanol inhibits a neuronal ATP-gated ion channel. Mol Pharmacol *44*, 871-875.

Liao, Y.J., Jan, Y.N., and Jan, L.Y. (1996). Heteromultimerization of G-protein-gated inwardly rectifying K+ channel proteins GIRK1 and GIRK2 and their altered expression in weaver brain. J Neurosci *16*, 7137-7150.

Logothetis, D.E., Kurachi, Y., Galper, J., Neer, E.J., and Clapham, D.E. (1987). The beta gamma subunits of GTP-binding proteins activate the muscarinic K+ channel in heart. Nature *325*, 321-326.

Lopatin, A.N., Makhina, E.N., and Nichols, C.G. (1994). Potassium channel block by cytoplasmic polyamines as the mechanism of intrinsic rectification. Nature *372*, 366-369.

Lovinger, D.M., White, G., and Weight, F.F. (1989). Ethanol inhibits NMDA-activated ion current in hippocampal neurons. Science 243, 1721-1724.

Luscher, C., Jan, L.Y., Stoffel, M., Malenka, R.C., and Nicoll, R.A. (1997). G proteincoupled inwardly rectifying K+ channels (GIRKs) mediate postsynaptic but not presynaptic transmitter actions in hippocampal neurons. Neuron *19*, 687-695.

MacKinnon, R. (2003). Potassium channels. FEBS Lett 555, 62-65.

Mascia, M.P., Trudell, J.R., and Harris, R.A. (2000). Specific binding sites for alcohols and anesthetics on ligand-gated ion channels. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *97*, 9305-9310.

Matsuda, H., Saigusa, A., and Irisawa, H. (1987). Ohmic conductance through the inwardly rectifying K channel and blocking by internal Mg2+. Nature *325*, 156-159.

McGinnis, J.M., and Foege, W.H. (1999). Mortality and morbidity attributable to use of addictive substances in the United States. Proc Assoc Am Physicians *111*, 109-118.

Mihic, S.J., Ye, Q., Wick, M.J., Koltchine, V.V., Krasowski, M.D., Finn, S.E., Mascia, M.P., Valenzuela, C.F., Hanson, K.K., Greenblatt, E.P., *et al.* (1997). Sites of alcohol

and volatile anaesthetic action on GABA(A) and glycine receptors. Nature 389, 385-389.

Nichols, C.G., and Lopatin, A.N. (1997). Inward rectifier potassium channels. Annu Rev Physiol *59*, 171-191.

Nicoll, R.A., Malenka, R.C., and Kauer, J.A. (1990). Functional comparison of neurotransmitter receptor subtypes in mammalian central nervous system. Physiol Rev *70*, 513-565.

Nishida, M., Cadene, M., Chait, B.T., and MacKinnon, R. (2007). Crystal structure of a Kir3.1-prokaryotic Kir channel chimera. The EMBO journal *26*, 4005-4015.

Nishida, M., and MacKinnon, R. (2002). Structural basis of inward rectification: cytoplasmic pore of the G protein-gated inward rectifier GIRK1 at 1.8 A resolution. Cell *111*, 957-965.

Papazian, D.M., Schwarz, T.L., Tempel, B.L., Jan, Y.N., and Jan, L.Y. (1987). Cloning of genomic and complementary DNA from Shaker, a putative potassium channel gene from Drosophila. Science 237, 749-753.

Pegan, S., Arrabit, C., Slesinger, P.A., and Choe, S. (2006). Andersen's syndrome mutation effects on the structure and assembly of the cytoplasmic domains of Kir2.1. Biochemistry *45*, 8599-8606.

Pegan, S., Arrabit, C., Zhou, W., Kwiatkowski, W., Collins, A., Slesinger, P.A., and Choe, S. (2005). Cytoplasmic domain structures of Kir2.1 and Kir3.1 show sites for modulating gating and rectification. Nat Neurosci *8*, 279-287.

Pfaffinger, P.J., Martin, J.M., Hunter, D.D., Nathanson, N.M., and Hille, B. (1985). GTP-binding proteins couple cardiac muscarinic receptors to a K channel. Nature *317*, 536-538.

Reuveny, E., Slesinger, P.A., Inglese, J., Morales, J.M., Iniguez-Lluhi, J.A., Lefkowitz, R.J., Bourne, H.R., Jan, Y.N., and Jan, L.Y. (1994). Activation of the cloned muscarinic potassium channel by G protein beta gamma subunits. Nature *370*, 143-146.

Schoots, O., Wilson, J.M., Ethier, N., Bigras, E., Hebert, T.E., and Van Tol, H.H. (1999). Co-expression of human Kir3 subunits can yield channels with different functional properties. Cell Signal *11*, 871-883.

Schulze, D., Krauter, T., Fritzenschaft, H., Soom, M., and Baukrowitz, T. (2003). Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2) modulation of ATP and pH sensitivity in Kir channels. A tale of an active and a silent PIP2 site in the N terminus. J Biol Chem *278*, 10500-10505.

Signorini, S., Liao, Y.J., Duncan, S.A., Jan, L.Y., and Stoffel, M. (1997). Normal cerebellar development but susceptibility to seizures in mice lacking G protein-coupled, inwardly rectifying K+ channel GIRK2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *94*, 923-927.

Trevisani, M., Smart, D., Gunthorpe, M.J., Tognetto, M., Barbieri, M., Campi, B., Amadesi, S., Gray, J., Jerman, J.C., Brough, S.J., *et al.* (2002). Ethanol elicits and potentiates nociceptor responses via the vanilloid receptor-1. Nat Neurosci *5*, 546-551.

Yu, D., Zhang, L., Eisele, J.L., Bertrand, D., Changeux, J.P., and Weight, F.F. (1996). Ethanol inhibition of nicotinic acetylcholine type alpha 7 receptors involves the amino-terminal domain of the receptor. Mol Pharmacol *50*, 1010-1016.

Zhang, H., He, C., Yan, X., Mirshahi, T., and Logothetis, D.E. (1999). Activation of inwardly rectifying K+ channels by distinct PtdIns(4,5)P2 interactions. Nat Cell Biol *1*, 183-188.

Zhou, Q., and Lovinger, D.M. (1996). Pharmacologic characteristics of potentiation of 5-HT3 receptors by alcohols and diethyl ether in NCB-20 neuroblastoma cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther *278*, 732-740.

II. Evidence for a Discrete Alcohol Pocket Involved in GIRK Channel Activation

Abstract

Ethanol modifies neural activity in the brain by modulating ion channels. Ethanol activates G protein-gated inwardly rectifying K⁺ channels but the molecular mechanism is not well understood. Here, we used a crystal structure of an inward rectifier containing a bound alcohol and structure-based mutagenesis to probe a putative alcohol-binding pocket located in the cytoplasmic domains of GIRK channels. Substitutions with bulkier side-chains in the alcohol-binding pocket reduced or eliminated activation by alcohols. By contrast, alcohols inhibited constitutively open channels, such as IRK1 or GIRK2 that binds PIP_2 strongly. Mutations in the hydrophobic alcohol-binding pocket of these channels had no effect on alcohol-dependent inhibition, suggesting an alternate site is involved in inhibition. Comparison of high-resolution structures of inwardly rectifying K⁺ channels suggests a novel model for activation of GIRK channels via this hydrophobic alcohol-binding pocket. These results provide a tool for developing therapeutic compounds that could mitigate the effects of alcohol.

Introduction

Many ligand-gated ion channels, such as those gated by GABA, N-methyl-Daspartate, glycine, acetylcholine and serotonin, are responsive to ethanol (EtOH) and other alcohols (Cardoso *et al.*, 1999; Lovinger *et al.*, 1989; Mihic *et al.*, 1997; Zhou and Lovinger, 1996). Initially, alcohol was hypothesized to indirectly alter the function

17

of channels by changing the fluidity of the lipid bilayer(Harris *et al.*, 2008). More recent studies, however, suggest alcohol acts directly through a physical-binding pocket located in the channel protein (Mihic *et al.*, 1997; Wick *et al.*, 1998). In addition to ligand-gated channels, alcohols also modulate potassium channels (Covarrubias *et al.*, 1995; Kobayashi *et al.*, 1999; Lewohl *et al.*, 1999). For example, EtOH activates G protein-gated inwardly rectifying potassium (GIRK or Kir3) channels (Kobayashi *et al.*, 1999; Lewohl *et al.*, 1999; Lewohl *et al.*, 1999; Lewohl *et al.*, 2003) and consume more EtOH than wild-type mice (Blednov *et al.*, 2001), suggesting a functional role for GIRK channels in response to alcohols *in vivo*.

GIRK channels are also activated following stimulation of G protein-coupled receptors (GPCR), such as m2 muscarinic receptors (m2R). The mechanism of G protein activation has been extensively studied. Agonist binding to the GPCR leads to activation of the pertussis toxin sensitive G protein heterotrimer ($G\alpha\beta\gamma$), allowing the G $\beta\gamma$ subunits to associate directly with the channel and induce channel activation (Reuveny *et al.*, 1994; Wickman *et al.*, 1994). Mutagenesis and chimeric studies have identified several regions in the cytoplasmic domains of GIRK channels involved in G $\beta\gamma$ binding and activation (Finley *et al.*, 2004; He *et al.*, 1999; Huang *et al.*, 1995; Ivanina *et al.*, 2003; Kunkel and Peralta, 1995). Interestingly, pertussis-toxin treatment, which prevents GPCR-mediated G protein activation of GIRK channels, does not prevent alcohol activation (Kobayashi *et al.*, 1999). These experiments suggest that alcohol activation occurs through a mechanism distinct from G protein activation.

Similar to GABA-gated ion channels, a physical pocket in the channel with a defined cutoff is postulated to mediate alcohol activation of GIRK channels. That is, alcohols with a carbon chain length up to four carbons (i.e. methanol, ethanol, 1-propanol (1-PrOH) and 1-butanol (1-BuOH)) activate GIRK1/2 heteromeric channels while longer alcohols inhibit the channels (Kobayashi *et al.*, 1999; Lewohl *et al.*, 1999). This cutoff effect suggests there are physical constraints, possibly linked to the length or hydrophobicity of the alcohol, that determine the sensitivity to alcohol modulation (Kobayashi *et al.*, 1999; Wick *et al.*, 1998). However, the molecular mechanism underlying alcohol activation of GIRK channels is not known. Mutagenesis studies of GIRK2 channels have implicated the distal C-terminal cytoplasmic domain in activation by alcohol (Hara *et al.*, 2001; 1999), but these studies did not reveal a physical alcohol-binding pocket in the channel.

Recently, we described a high resolution structure of the cytoplasmic domains of a G protein-insensitive inwardly rectifying potassium channel (IRK1 or Kir2.1) that contains bound alcohols (Pegan *et al.*, 2006). The alcohol, 2-methyl, 2-4-pentanediol (MPD), is bound to four similar solvent accessible hydrophobic pockets, each formed by two adjacent subunits of the tetramer. Intriguingly, this IRK1-bound pocket has features similar to the structure of an odorant alcohol binding protein, LUSH, which was crystallized with EtOH (Kruse *et al.*, 2003). In both structures, the alcohol pocket is formed by hydrophobic amino acids and hydrogen bonding polar groups. Thus, the hydrophobic alcohol-bound pocket in IRK1 is a putative site for modulation by alcohols. Because the crystal structure of the cytoplasmic domain of GIRK1 or GIRK2 channels is very similar to that of IRK1 (Inanobe *et al.*, 2007; Nishida and MacKinnon, 2002; Pegan *et al.*, 2005), we hypothesize that GIRK channels also possess

cytoplasmic hydrophobic alcohol-binding pockets that are involved in alcoholdependent activation.

Results

Conservation of MPD bound pocket in IRK1 and GIRK2

Recently, we showed that a high resolution structure of the IRK1 cytoplasmic domains contains bound alcohols (which we refer to here as IRK1-MPD)(Pegan et al., 2006). The alcohol-binding pocket in the IRK1-MPD complex is formed by hydrophobic amino acid side-chains from three different domains, the N-terminal, the $\beta D-\beta E$ ribbon and the $\beta L-\beta M$ ribbon (Fig. 2.1a,b) (Pegan *et al.*, 2005). There are seven amino acids that interact with MPD (Pegan et al., 2006). Of these, the hydrophobic side-chains of F47, L232, L245 and L330 and Y337 point toward the pocket. In addition to the hydrophobic environment of the pocket, hydrogen bonds may form between one of the hydroxyl groups of MPD and a hydrogen bonding triangle between backbone carbonyl of P244 and OH group of Y242 via a water and between the second hydroxyl group of MPD and the hydroxyl group of Y337 (Pegan et al., 2006). We compared the high-resolution structure of IRK1 with that of GIRK2 (Inanobe et al., 2007) and identified the putative alcohol-binding pocket in GIRK2. The hydrophobic pocket in GIRK2 has significant conservation with amino acids that line the pocket in IRK1 and appears large enough to accommodate MPD similar to IRK1 (Fig. 2.1c,d).

MPD activates GIRK2 channels similar to primary alcohols

To test whether the hydrophobic pocket in GIRK2 is the site for alcoholmediated activation, we first investigated whether GIRK2 channels are sensitive to MPD modulation. Whereas primary alcohols up to the size of butanol (1-BuOH; four carbons) activate GIRK1/2 channels (Kobayashi et al., 1999; Lewohl et al., 1999), the effect of MPD with five backbone carbons was unknown. GIRK2 channels expressed in HEK-293T cells produced a small inwardly rectifying basal K^{+} current that was inhibited by extracellular Ba⁺⁺ (Fig. 2.1e). Bath application of MPD (100 mM) increased the amplitude of the inwardly rectifying current (Fig. 2.1e), indicating that MPD activates GIRK channels. Note also that MPD appeared to inhibit an endogenous voltage-gated outward current at positive potentials (Fig. 2.1e, arrow), which is likely a voltage-gated K channel (Covarrubias et al., 1995). All three alcohols activated GIRK2 channels at 10 mM and displayed a steep increase in activation around 100 mM (Fig. 2.2a). The activation curve for MPD falls between EtOH and 1-PrOH (Fig. 2.2b) and does not reach a maximum, similar to previous studies (Kobayashi et al., 1999; Lewohl et al., 1999). These results show that MPD activates GIRK2 in a similar manner to other small n-alcohols. Interestingly, 1-pentanol (1-PeOH), which also has five backbone carbons like MPD, predominantly inhibits GIRK2 channels (see Supplemental Fig. 2.S1). Therefore, a large diol such as MPD activates GIRK2 channels in a similar manner to small primary alcohols, such as ethanol but is different from 1-PeOH (see discussion).

Pertussis toxin treatment does not prevent EtOH activation of GIRK channels, indicating that GPCR coupling to G proteins is not involved (Kobayashi *et al.*, 1999). To rule out the possibility that alcohols activate GIRK channels by directly stimulating G protein heterotrimers and liberating $G\beta\gamma$ subunits, we measured the alcohol

response of GIRK2 channels in cells co-expressing a myristoylated form of phosducin (m-Phos) that chelates $G\beta\gamma$ following stimulation of GPCRs (Rishal *et al.*, 2005). Compared to controls, carbachol stimulation of m2R evoked smaller GIRK2 currents in cells coexpressing m-Phos (**Fig. 2.2c–e**). All three alcohols, on the other hand, activated GIRK2 channels to the same extent in the presence of m-Phos (**Fig. 2.2d,e**). Thus, alcohol-dependent activation of GIRK2 channels does not appear to require free $G\beta\gamma$ subunits. Together, these results support the interpretation that alcohols directly activate GIRK channels through a physical alcohol-bound pocket.

Role for hydrophobic pocket in alcohol activation

To determine whether the hydrophobic pocket in GIRK2 mediates alcohol activation, we examined the effects of the side-chain volume using an amino acid with a small (Ala) or large (Trp) side-chain (Fig. 2.3a,b). Six mutants did not express basal K^+ currents (< -1 pApF⁻¹) (**Fig. 2.3b**). In mutant channels engineered with an extracellular hemagglutinin (HA)-tag, we investigated whether the lack of basal current was due to a trafficking defect using confocal microscopy. Four mutants, HA-GIRK2-Y58W. HA-GIRK2-Y58A, HA-GIRK2-L342W and HA-GIRK2-Y349A, expressed on the plasma membrane but did not conduct currents (Fig. 2.3b; Supplementary Fig. 2.S2). Mutations at GIRK2-I244 impaired expression on the membrane surface (Fig. 2.3b). These findings suggest the hydrophobic pocket in GIRK2 is important for channel gating and/or assembly in the absence of alcohol. Four other mutants, GIRK2-L257A, GIRK2-L257W, GIRK2-L342A and GIRK2-Y349W, produced functional channels that were activated by EtOH (Fig. 2.3c). However, GIRK2-L257W, displayed significantly smaller EtOH-activated currents

(**Fig. 2.3c**), suggesting that Leu at position 257 in the βD - βE ribbon is a key residue that is required for alcohol-dependent activation of GIRK2 channels.

In the IRK1-MPD structure, L245, which is homologous to L257, is positioned at the base of the pocket, and interacts intimately with MPD. The decrease in EtOHactivated current of GIRK2-L257W raised the possibility that amino acids with bulky side-chains might generally interfere with alcohol activation. We systematically evaluated the effect of substituting twelve different amino acids of increasing molecular side-chain volume in GIRK2-L257. Of the twelve, five expressed (> -1pApF⁻¹) and could be investigated further for possible changes in alcohol-mediated activation (Fig. 2.4a). The magnitude and rank order (1-PrOH > MPD > EtOH) for alcohol activation with smaller molecular volume substitutions, such as Ala, Cys and Met, were indistinguishable from wild-type Leu in GIRK2 channels (Figs. 2.4b,c and 2.5a). On the other hand GIRK2-L257Y reduced 1-PrOH and MPD but not EtOH activation while GIRK2-L257W affected EtOH, 1-PrOH and MPD- dependent activation (Figs. 2.4d,e and 5a). Interestingly, 100 mM MPD no longer activated and now inhibited the basal currents for GIRK2-L257W (Figs. 2.4e and 2.5a). For GIRK2-L257Y and GIRK2-L257W, the decrease in alcohol activation was observed at a full range of concentrations (25, 125, 250 mM) for 1-PrOH or MPD (Fig. 2.5b), indicating a significant impairment in alcohol sensitivity. In addition to the change in alcohol response, mutations at L257 also reduced the m2R-mediated currents (Figs. 2.4c-e and **5a**), indicating that L257 is involved in both alcohol-mediated and $G\beta\gamma$ -mediated activation (see Discussion). Taken together, these results demonstrate that increasing the side-chain volume at L257 leads to a progressive loss in alcohol mediated activation (Fig. 2.5a and inset). A switch in alcohol activation occurred with
an increase in volume from wild-type Leu (101 Å³) to Tyr (133 Å³) or Trp (168 Å³). In addition, bulky substitutions at L257 affected larger alcohols (MPD) more than smaller alcohols (EtOH), suggesting the molecular volume of the pocket is an important determinant of alcohol specificity.

Because alcohol activation is a property of most types of GIRK channels (Kobayashi et al., 1999; Lewohl et al., 1999), we reasoned that a homologous mutation in a related GIRK channel would also alter the response to alcohols. To test this idea, we investigated the effects of mutating L252 in GIRK4. We used GIRK4* that contains a S143T mutation in the pore-helix, which enhances channel activity without affecting surface expression (Vivaudou *et al.*, 1997). Substituting Ala (26 Å³), Tyr (133 Å³) or Trp (168 Å³) at L252 in GIRK4* channels did not change the basal K^{+} currents (Fig. 2.6a). Similar to mutations of L257 in GIRK2, Trp and Tyr substitutions in GIRK4* decreased EtOH, 1-PrOH and MPD activation, as compared to L252A, with 1-PrOH now inhibiting GIRK4*-L252W (Fig. 2.6b-f). In contrast to GIRK2, however, MPD activation of GIRK4*-L252W was not significantly different from wild-type (Fig. 2.6e,f). Mutating GIRK4*-L252 also significantly reduced m2R-activated GIRK currents (Fig. 2.6c-f). Thus, the putative hydrophobic alcohol-binding pocket in GIRK4* is important for mediating alcohol activation but GIRK4* may accommodate MPD differently than GIRK2 (see Discussion).

Mutations of MPD pocket do not alter alcohol inhibition

MPD is bound to a hydrophobic pocket in the crystal structure of IRK1, suggesting that MPD might inhibit IRK1 channels like other alcohols (Kobayashi *et al.*, 1999; Lewohl *et al.*, 1999). Bath applying 100 mM MPD inhibited nearly 50% the

basal inwardly rectifying K⁺ current through IRK1 channels (**Fig. 2.7a**). The MPD inhibition was dose dependent and had an IC₅₀ of 104 ± 23 mM and a Hill coefficient of 0.93 ± 0.02 (n=8) (**Fig. 2.7b**). We next investigated whether Trp substitutions in the hydrophobic alcohol-binding pocket of IRK1 altered alcohol-dependent inhibition (**Fig. 2.7c**). IRK1-F47W, IRK1-L232W, IRK1-L245W IRK1-L330W but not IRK1-Y337W produced significant basal K⁺ current (Ba⁺⁺-sensitive) (data not shown). Like wild-type IRK1, MPD inhibited the basal currents of mutant channels in a dose-dependent manner. In fact, the IC₅₀ for MPD inhibition was indistinguishable among the different IRK1 mutants (**Fig. 2.7d**). Furthermore, IRK1-L245W mutation did not alter inhibition by EtOH, 1-PrOH or 1-BuOH (data not shown). Thus, mutations at the hydrophobic pocket of IRK1 channels do not appear to alter the sensitivity to inhibition by alcohols.

IRK1 channels are constitutively open, producing a large basal K⁺ current. We speculated that alcohols might therefore inhibit GIRK channels engineered to be constitutively open. We introduced a high affinity PIP₂ site shown previously to produce a large basal current (Zhang *et al.*, 1999; Zhou *et al.*, 2001) (GIRK2-PIP₂). In contrast to wild-type GIRK2, GIRK2-PIP₂ exhibited large basal currents as expected (-530 ± 197 pApF⁻¹, n=5). Application of 100 mM MPD inhibited the basal K⁺ current of GIRK2-PIP₂ (**Fig. 2.7e**). Similar to IRK1, we hypothesized that mutating L257 to Trp in GIRK2-PIP₂ would have no effect in alcohol mediated inhibition. Accordingly, GIRK2-PIP₂-L257W produced large Ba⁺⁺-sensitive currents (-363 ± 182 pApF⁻¹, n=6) that were inhibited by MPD, similar to GIRK2-PIP₂ channels (**Fig. 2.7f**). We conclude that the hydrophobic alcohol-binding pocket in IRK1 or GIRK2 is not involved in alcohol-dependent inhibition. Furthermore, these results show that constitutively open inwardly rectifying K⁺ channels are not activated further by alcohols.

While investigating alcohol modulation of GIRK4^{*}, we discovered that 1-BuOH activated GIRK4^{*}, in contrast to inhibition of GIRK4 wild-type (Supplementary **Fig. 2.S3**) or GIRK1/4 heterotetramers (Kobayashi *et al.*, 1999; Lewohl *et al.*, 1999). GIRK4 and GIRK4^{*} differ by a point mutation (S143T) in the pore-helix(Vivaudou *et al.*, 1997) suggesting that S143T may regulate sensitivity to alcohol inhibition. To assess whether this site is generally involved in alcohol-mediated inhibition of GIRK channels, we introduced a Thr at the equivalent Ser (S148T) in GIRK2-PIP₂ channels. As predicted, GIRK2-PIP₂.-S148T significantly shifted the IC₅₀ for MPD-dependent inhibition compared to GIRK2-PIP₂ (**Fig. 2.7f**). Taken together, these experiments implicate amino acids in the pore-helix in regulating the extent of alcohol-dependent inhibition and support the conclusion that the cytoplasmic alcohol-binding pocket mediates alcohol-dependent activation, but not inhibition, of GIRK channels.

Discussion

Based on high-resolution channel structures and functional mutagenesis, we have identified a physical site for alcohol-mediated activation of GIRK channels. Amino acid substitutions that increased the molecular side-chain volume at a conserved Leu in the β D- β E ribbon of the hydrophobic pocket of GIRK2 decreased alcohol mediated activation of GIRK channels (see **Fig. 2.8a**). In particular, two substitutions, Trp and Tyr, at the Leu in the hydrophobic pocket of GIRK2 (L257) and GIRK4* (L252) channels produced a progressive loss in alcohol activation. For GIRK4*, Ala substitution increased the amplitude of alcohol-activated currents. Thus, increasing or decreasing the volume of the pocket by altering the amino acid side-

chain produced changes in alcohol activation. Similarly, the size of the putative alcohol-binding pocket in GABA_A α 1 and glycine receptors is important for determining modulation by alcohol and other small anesthetics. Increasing the bulkiness of amino acids in the putative alcohol-binding pocket of these channels eliminates the modulation by EtOH (Mihic et al., 1997) or isofluorane (Jenkins et al., 2001). By contrast, decreasing the size of amino acids in the same region of the decanol-insensitive GABA p1 receptors now enables potentiation by decanol(Mihic et al., 1997; Wick et al., 1998). Taken together with our findings, these studies support a model that physical pockets of defined dimensions can be probed with mutations that change the dimension of the alcohol-binding sites. Using the IRK1-MPD structure as a guide, we estimate the volume of the hydrophobic alcohol binding pocket of GIRK channels to be ~250 Å³, which is large enough to accommodate bulky alcohols like MPD (~130 Å³, Fig. 2.8b). A Trp mutation in the pocket would decrease the volume that could potentially occlude larger alcohols (Fig. 2.8b). In addition, the sensitivity to activation may be different between GIRK2 and GIRK4* channels. For example, Trp substitution in GIRK2 eliminated MPD activation, revealing inhibition of current. In GIRK4*, Trp substitution eliminated 1-PrOH activation but showed only a significant decrease in MPD activation when comparing Ala with Trp substitutions. One possible explanation is that MPD fits differently in the alcohol pocket of GIRK4*, which could be revealed in a complex of MPD and GIRK4 structure.

The observations that mutations at the hydrophobic pocket did not alter alcohol dependent inhibition of IRK1, and that S148T mutation (but not L257W) in GIRK2-PIP₂ decreased alcohol-dependent inhibition suggest that GIRK channels possess two different sites for alcohol modulation. In the Kirbac1.3 structure, the Ser is located in the pore helix of Kirbac1.3 where there is no space for alcohol (Supplemental **Fig. 2.S4**), suggesting that S148 regulates the sensitivity to inhibition but does not form the binding site. Alcohols might interfere with ion permeation or possibly with gating at the transmembrane domains, similar to voltage-gated K channels (Covarrubias *et al.*, 1995). Another possibility is that alcohols inhibit the channel by altering the fluidity of the lipid membrane (Harris *et al.*, 2008) and/or decreasing interactions with phospholipid phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate (PIP₂) which is required for channel function(Huang *et al.*, 1998).

Interestingly, whereas 1-octanol inhibits GIRK channels, co-application of 1octanol with EtOH has no effect on EtOH-mediated activation, also raising the possibility of second site for inhibition (Lewohl *et al.*, 1999). The net effect of alcohol modulation in GIRK channels would be therefore determined by the relative potencies of activation and inhibition. In support of this, we found that bath application of 1-PeOH inhibited GIRK2 channels but induced a large current immediately after washout (Supplementary **Fig. 2.S1**), revealing two components of alcohol modulation. It is notable that the dominant effect of MPD on GIRK is activation. A functional difference between diols and primary alcohols has been reported previously for NMDA channels, where long chain diols, but not primary alcohols, are more potent modulators of NMDA currents (Peoples and Ren, 2002). The presence of two sites for alcohol modulation also suggests that ascribing a cutoff number for alcohol activation of GIRK channels would not be accurate, in contrast to the determination of the cutoff number for GABA_A channels (Dildy-Mayfield *et al.*, 1996).

Two different types of alcohol-bound protein structures have been solved previously, the enzymatic/catalytic alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH) and a non-catalytic

28

Drosophila odorant-binding protein, LUSH. In ADH, primary alcohol is coordinated with Zn²⁺ in a hydrophobic pocket, where it catalyzes the oxidation of alcohol to aldehyde (Ramaswamy et al., 1994; Svensson et al., 2000). Mutagenesis studies in the pocket indicated the bulkiness of side-chains in the hydrophobic pocket determines alcohol specificity (Weinhold and Benner, 1995). The high-resolution structure of LUSH in complex with small alcohols showed that in addition to hydrophobic interactions, a network of hydrogen bonds help stabilize alcohol in the LUSH alcohol-binding pocket (Kim et al., 1998; Kruse et al., 2003; Thode et al., 2008). The hydrophobic pocket in IRK1-MPD has many of the same features of these alcohol-binding pockets. First, hydrophobic amino acids form the pocket and interact intimately with hydrocarbons of the alcohol (Fig. 2.1b). In GIRK2, mutations of L257 to bulkier amino acids significantly reduce or lead to loss of alcohol-mediated activation. This finding is consistent with the role of hydrophobic side-chains in determining the size of the alcohol-binding pocket. Second, the IRK1-MPD structure indicates that hydrogen-bonds form between MPD and the backbone carbonyl of P244, Y242 via a water and a hydroxyl of Y337 (Fig. 2.1) (. At the homologous position for IRK1-Y242, GIRK2 contains a Phe (F254), which indicates that this hydrogen-bond triangle may not be essential. Additionally, we found that MPD mediated activation was not affected by Y349W mutation at the homologous position of IRK1-Y337) (Supplemental Fig. 2.S5). Therefore it is possible that the carbonyl group of Pro in the βD - βE ribbon is the linchpin that stabilizes alcohol in the pocket via hydrogen-bonding. Unnatural amino acid mutagenesis (Lu et al., 2001) would be needed to further establish the importance of this H-bond interaction in stabilizing alcohol.

Though specific alcohol-induced conformational changes in the channel protein remain to be determined, our structural analysis between IRK1-MPD structure and that of chimeric KirBac1.3-GIRK1 structure provides some new clues into channel gating (Nishida *et al.*, 2007; Pegan *et al.*, 2005). Two different conformational states of GIRK have been described: a putative open state, due to the open position of the G-loops in the cytoplasmic gate (Nishida *et al.*, 2007; Pegan *et al.*, 2007; Pegan *et al.*, 2005) (GIRK1-*open*, **Fig. 2.8c**) and a putative closed state (GIRK1-*closed*, **Fig. 2.8c**). We aligned the IRK1-MPD structure with these two different Kirbac1.3-GIRK1 structures, and discovered that IRK1-MPD structure aligns better with the GIRK1-*open* in the hydrophobic alcohol-binding pocket (**Fig. 2.8c**, **zoom**). By contrast, the alignment with GIRK1-*closed* structure shows striking differences in the hydrophobic alcohol pocket. In particular, the side-chains from F46 in the N-terminal domain, L246 in the βD - βE ribbon and L333 in the βL - βM ribbon fill the hydrophobic pocket of the putative closed state of GIRK1. In the open state, however, structural rearrangements of F46, L246, L333 and F338 occur that enable MPD to now fit in the pocket.

Based on our mutagenesis data and structural analyses, we propose a tenable model for alcohol activation of GIRK channels. At rest, GIRK2 channels undergo infrequent structural rearrangements in the pocket that correlate with the open and closed positions of the channel's cytoplasmic gates, the G loops (Nishida *et al.*, 2007; Pegan *et al.*, 2005) and M2 transmembrane domains (Jin *et al.*, 2002; Sadja *et al.*, 2001; Yi *et al.*, 2001) (**Fig. 2.8c**). Alcohol entering the pocket could then stabilize the open conformation, leading to alcohol activated currents. Bulky substitutions at L257/L252 of GIRK channels, located at the base of the alcohol pocket, would hinder alcohols from filling the pocket. Alcohols might also displace

other amino acids that fill the hydrophobic pocket in the closed state (**Fig. 2.8c**), promoting the open state. Previous studies have suggested that $G\beta\gamma$ dependent activation of GIRK channels involves increases in PIP₂ affinity (Huang *et al.*, 1998; Zhang *et al.*, 1999). Similarly, changes in PIP₂ binding may also be involved in alcohol-dependent activation of GIRK channels. Studies in the future will need to investigate the molecular relationships between movement of the N-terminal domain, β D- β E and β L- β M ribbons within the hydrophobic pocket, PIP₂ interactions, and the channel gates.

The alcohol-binding pocket may be also involved in G $\beta\gamma$ -dependent activation. Mutation of a conserved Leu (GIRK2-L344, GIRK4*L339, GIRK1-L333, **Fig. 2.8c**) to Glu in the β L- β M ribbon of GIRK channels attenuates G $\beta\gamma$ activation (Finley *et al.*, 2004; He *et al.*, 1999; Ivanina *et al.*, 2003). We found that mutations in the β D- β E (L257) ribbon that altered alcohol-dependent activation also reduced G $\beta\gamma$ -dependent activation (**Figs. 2.4** and **2.5**). Together, these results suggest that conformational changes in the β D- β E and β L- β M structural elements, along with the N-terminal domain (Riven *et al.*, 2003; Sarac *et al.*, 2005), may be central to both alcohol- and G $\beta\gamma$ -dependent activation. Intriguingly, hydrophobic amino acids in the G protein G β subunit have been implicated in GIRK channel activation (Ford *et al.*, 1998), which perhaps interact directly with the alcohol-binding pocket in GIRK.

Acknowledgements

This chapter was published in the journal Nature Neuroscience. I (P.A.) was the primary author, and the chair of my thesis committee (P.A.S) was the senior author. Permission to use this work as a part of my dissertation has been obtained from Hay Dvir, and Senyon Choe, the two other co-authors. P.A.S. and P.A. designed the experiments and analyzed the data. P.A. conducted the molecular cloning, electrophysiology and imaging experiments. H.D. and P.A. collaborated on structural analysis and figure production. H.D. conducted modeling experiment. P.A., H.D., and P.A.S co-wrote and revised the manuscript. P.A.S and S.C. supervised the project.

We would like to thank Y. Kurachi for GIRK2 (2E4F) coordinates, N. Dascal for m-Phosducin (m-Phos) cDNA, S. Pegan for initial discussions on structure of IRK1-MPD (2GIX) and members of the Slesinger lab for helpful comments. This work was funded, in part, by a pre-doctoral NIH NRSA fellowship to P.A. (Award Number F31AA017042) from the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism, the H. N. & Frances C. Berger Foundation, and the Salk Institute for Biological Studies. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism or the National Institutes of Health.

Materials and Methods

Molecular Biology and Cell Culture

GIRK2c (for clarity, we refer to GIRK2c as 'GIRK2' in this study), GIRK4, IRK1, m2 muscarinic receptor (m2R) and m-Phosducin (m-Phos) were subcloned into pcDNA3.1 vector (Invitrogen) m-Phos cDNA was kindly provided by Dr. Nathan Dascal (Rishal *et al.*, 2005). GIRK4* contains a S143T mutation in the pore-helix (Vivaudou *et al.*, 1997). Point mutations were introduced by Quickchange site directed mutagenesis kit (Stratagene). GIRK2-PIP₂ mutant was created by overlapPCR method (Ho *et al.*, 1989). Briefly, a region of GIRK2-D228-L234 was replaced with the homologous region of IRK1-N216-L222; this region contains seven amino acids in the β C- β D region implicated previously in PIP₂ binding (Zhang *et al.*, 1999; Zhou *et al.*, 2001) (we refer to this mutant as GIRK2-PIP₂). All mutations were confirmed by DNA sequencing. HEK-293T cells were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, and 1X Glutamax (Invitrogen) in a humidified 37 °C incubator with 5% CO₂. Cells were plated in 12 well dish, and transiently transfected with DNA using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen). Cells were replated to 12-mm glass coverslips coated with poly-D-Lysine (20 µg/ml) 12-24 hr after transfection.

Detection of channels expressed on membrane surface

GIRK2c and mutant channels were engineered with an extracellular hemagglutinin (HA) epitope inserted between 1126 - E127 for immunohistochemical detection with anti-HA antibodies (Clancy *et al.*, 2007). HEK-293T cells were transfected with 0.5 μg of channel cDNA and examined 24-48 hr after transfection. Cells were washed with 1X Dulbecco's Phosphate Buffer Saline (DPBS; Invitrogen), fixed with 2% para-formaldehyde (PFA) in 1X DPBS for 10 min and rinsed with 1X DPBS (at 22-25 °C). To label surface channels, cells were incubated with blocking buffer (3% BSA in 1X DPBS) for 1 hr and then with anti-HA mouse antibody (1:400 in blocking buffer; Covance) for 2 hr at 22 °C. To label cytoplasmic channels, cells were rinsed with 1X DPBS, permeabilized with 0.25% TritonX-100 (Sigma) in blocking buffer for 10 min at 22 °C and incubated with blocking buffer; Alomone) for 2 hrs.

Following rinses in 1X DPBS, cells were incubated with fluorescent secondary antibodies, anti-mouse Alexa-647 and anti-rabbit Alexa-488 (1:300; Invitrogen) for 1 hr in the dark. Cells were rinsed with 1X DPBS, mounted on microscope slides using Progold anti-fading reagent (Invitrogen), and both fluorophores imaged with a Leica TSC SP2 AOBS laser confocal microscope.

Whole-cell patch-clamp electrophysiology

HEK-293T cells were transfected with 0.2 μ g of channel cDNA and 0.04 μ g of eYFP cDNA to identify transfected cells. For some experiments, 0.8 μ g of m2R and 0.8 µg of m-phosducin cDNA were also transfected. Whole-cell patch clamp recordings were performed 24-72 hr after transfection. Borosilicate glass electrodes (Warner Instruments) of 5-7 m Ω were filled with intracellular solution (130 mM KCl, 20 mM NaCl, 5 mM EGTA, 2.56 mM K₂ATP, 5.46 mM MgCl₂, 0.30 mM Li₂GTP, and 10 mM HEPES, pH 7.4). Extracellular 20K solution contained 20 mM KCl, 140 mM NaCl, 0.5 mM CaCl₂, 2 mM MgCl₂ and 10 mM HEPES (pH7.4). Alcohols (0.1 – 300 mM), carbachol (5 μ M), or BaCl₂ (1 mM) were diluted into the 20K solution and applied directly to the cell with the rapid valve-controlled, perfusion system (Warner Instruments, VC6, MM-6 manifold). All chemicals for electrophysiology were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Whole-cell patch-clamp currents were recorded using Axopatch 200B (Molecular Devices; Axon Instruments) amplifier. Currents were adjusted electronically for cell capacitance and series resistance (80-100%), filtered at 1kHz with an 8-pole Bessel filter and digitized at 5kHz with a Digidata 1200 interface (Molecular Devices: Axon Instruments). Currents were elicited with voltage ramp protocol, from -100 mV to +50 mV, delivered at 0.5 Hz. Currents were

measured at -100 mV and converted to current density (pApF⁻¹) by dividing by the membrane capacitance. Basal K⁺ currents (Ba⁺⁺-sensitive) were quantified at -100 mV by applying 1 mM BaCl₂ in 20K and measuring the amplitude of the Ba⁺⁺-inhibited current. Alcohol- and carbachol-modulated currents were measured by averaging current from two consecutive sweeps upon reaching steady state, and subtracting the mean basal current before and after the application of the modulator. Pooled data are presented as mean ± s.e.m. and evaluated for statistical significance (P < 0.05) using a one-way ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni multiple comparison post-hoc test. To determine the IC₅₀, the inhibition curves were fit with the Hill equation y=1/(1+[x/c]^b), where y is fraction current remaining, x is the concentration of alcohol that produces 50% inhibition.

Structural Analysis

Molecular representations were made using PyMOL (DeLano Scientific) with PDB files 2GIX (IRK1-MPD), 2E4F (GIRK2) and 2QKS (Kirbac1.3-GIRK1). The cavity of the IRK1-MPD pocket was calculated using CASTp server(Dundas *et al.*, 2006) with 1.4 Å probe radius. The model of IRK-L245W hydrophobic pocket was determined by optimizing the best rotamer position for Trp using PyMOL software. Molecular volume estimates for amino acid side-chains were based on reported values(Harpaz *et al.*, 1994).



A conserved alcohol-binding pocket in IRK1 and GIRK2 channels. a) Fig. 2.1 CPK representation of the cytoplasmic domains from two subunits of IRK1 in complex with an alcohol, MPD (PDB: 2GIX). The pocket for MPD is formed by three structural elements: the Nterminal domain (blue) and the βD - βE ribbon (green) from one subunit, and the βL - βM ribbon (orange) from an adjacent subunit. Inset, schematic of IRK1 (red) shows the major structural elements of the subunit including pore loop and helix, two transmembrane domains, and Nand C-terminals used in the structure (dashed box). b.c) Detailed structural views of amino acids forming the hydrophobic alcohol pocket of IRK1 with MPD (ball and stick) (b) and a putative hydrophobic alcohol pocket in GIRK2 (PDB: 2E4F) (c). Amino acid residues shown in stick format are colored according to the domain they originate from; as MPD is shown in balland-stick format. The putative position of MPD in the GIRK2 (dashed circle) was obtained by superposition of two adjacent cytoplasmic domains from IRK1 structure and corresponding subunits from GIRK2 structure. d) Sequence alignment for the three domains comprising the hydrophobic alcohol pocket in IRK1 and GIRK2 channels. Boxes indicate amino acids that form hydrophobic and hydrogen-bond interactions in IRK1-MPD, and are conserved in GIRK2. 'HG' in the N-terminal domain of IRK1 originates from the polypeptide linker in the IRK1-MPD structure. e) Current-voltage plots for GIRK2 channels recorded in the presence of 20K (blue), 20K plus 1 mM Ba⁺⁺ (black) or 20K plus 100 mM MPD (red). Currents were elicited by voltage ramps from -100 mV to +50 mV. MPD-induced current was 246% ± 27% (n=5, mean and s.e.m.) of basal K⁺ current (Ba⁺⁺ sensitive).



Fig. 2.2 MPD activates GIRK2 in a manner similar to other alcohols. a) The inward current through GIRK2 channels plotted as a function of time (at -100 mV) shows the response to the increasing concentrations of MPD and to 1 mM Ba⁺⁺. Dashed line shows zero current level. **b)** Dose-response curves are shown for MPD (n=6), 1-PrOH (n=6), and EtOH (n=6). The fold-increase was calculated by normalizing to the basal K⁺ current (Ba⁺⁺⁻ sensitive). **c-e)** Chelating G $\beta\gamma$ with m-Phos attenuates m2R- but not alcohol-mediated activation of GIRK2. Current responses recorded at -100 mV are shown for m2R/GIRK2 (c) or m2R/GIRK2/m-Phos (d) in response to 100 mM 1-PrOH, 100 mM MPD, 100 mM EtOH, or 5 μ M carbachol. **e)** Bar graphs show the mean percentage alcohol and carbachol responses (± s.e.m.), normalized to the Ba⁺⁺-sensitive basal current, in the absence (solid, n=4) or presence of m-Phos (grey, n=7). Asterisks indicate statistical significant difference from wild-type (*P* < 0.05).



Fig. 2.3 Ala/Trp scan of the hydrophobic alcohol-binding pocket in GIRK2. a) Ribbon structure shows amino acids that line the hydrophobic alcohol pocket in GIRK2. **b)** Summary table of Ala/Trp mutagenesis. Basal K⁺ currents (Ba⁺⁺-sensitive) were divided into three groups; < -1 pApF⁻¹ (Ø), -1 to -5 pApF⁻¹ (+) and > -5 pApF⁻¹ (++) (n = number of recordings). Surface expression on the plasma membrane was assessed in separate experiments with HA-tagged channels; detected on the surface (+) or detected only in cytoplasm (-). See Supplemental **Fig.2.S1**. Schematic shows location of HA tag ('v') in GIRK2 (grey). **c)** Bar graph shows the mean ethanol percentage response, normalized to the basal K⁺ current, for different mutant channels (± s.e.m.). L257W showed a significant statistical decrease in EtOH response (**P* < 0.05 vs. wild-type



Fig. 2.4 Comprehensive mutagenesis of GIRK2-L257 in βD-βE ribbon of hydrophobic alcohol-binding pocket reveals changes in alcohol- and Gβγ-activated currents. a) Bar graph shows the mean (± s.e.m.) amplitude of basal K⁺ current (Ba⁺⁺-sensitive) for substitutions of increasing molecular side-chain volume at GIRK2-L257: Gly (n=7), Ala (n=9), Ser (n=7), Cys (n=8), Asp (n=7), Asn (n=6), Ile (n=7), Leu (wt; n=34; grey bar), Lys (n=7), Met (n=8), Phe (n=7), Tyr (n=9) and Trp (n=9). b-e) Inward K⁺ currents measured at –100 mV for wild-type GIRK2 (b) and the indicated GIRK2-L257 mutants (c-e) in response to 100 mM 1-PrOH, 100 mM MPD, 100 mM EtOH, 5 μM carbachol, or 1 mM Ba⁺⁺. Inset shows the approximate position of the C-terminal mutation.



Fig. 2.5 Reduced alcohol activation with increasing bulkiness of amino acid substitutions at GIRK2-L257. a) Bar graph shows the mean percentage response to different alcohols and carbachol (\pm s.e.m.), normalized to the basal K⁺ current (Ba⁺⁺-sensitive). Upward response indicates inhibition. Amino acid substitutions are arranged by increasing side-chain volume (Å³, see inset). Asterisk indicates significant statistical difference (P < 0.05 vs. Leu). b,c) Dose-response curves are shown for GIRK2-L257, GIRK2-L257Y and GIRK2-L257W channels for 1-PrOH (b) and MPD (c). Note suppression of alcohol activation at all concentrations tested.



Fig. 2.6 Mutations in the hydrophobic alcohol-binding pocket of GIRK4* alter alcohol-activated currents. a) Mean basal K⁺ currents (Ba⁺⁺-sensitive) measured for Ala (n=8), Leu (wt; grey bar, n=8), Tyr (n=8), and Trp (n=8) substitutions at GIRK4*-L252. There are no statistical differences in basal currents (P > 0.05 vs. Leu). b-e) Inward K⁺ currents measured at -100 mV for GIRK4* (b) and different GIRK4*-L252 mutants (c-e) in response to 100 mM 1-PrOH, 100 mM MPD, 100 mM EtOH, 5 μ M carbachol, or 1 mM Ba⁺⁺. f) Bar graphs show the mean percentage responses to different alcohols and carbachol, normalized to the basal K⁺ current (Ba⁺⁺-sensitive). Amino acid substitutions are arranged by increasing sidechain volume (Å³) (see inset). Asterisk indicates significant statistical difference (*P* < 0.05 vs. Leu). Channel schematics show the approximate position of the pore-helix (white ellipse) mutation, for making GIRK4*, and the C-terminal mutation (black circle). All values are mean ± s.e.m



Mutations in the hydrophobic alcohol-binding pocket of IRK1 have no Fig. 2.7 effect on alcohol-dependent inhibition. a) Current-voltage plots for IRK1 channels are shown for 20K (blue), 20K plus 1 mM Ba⁺⁺ (black) or 20K plus 100 mM MPD (red). MPD inhibited the basal K⁺ current (Ba⁺⁺-sensitive) by $53.1\% \pm 4.1\%$ (n=8). b) Dose-response curve is shown for MPD inhibition of IRK1 channel. Smooth curve shows best fit using the Hill equation, with an IC₅₀ of 104 \pm 23 mM and Hill coefficient of 0.93 \pm 0.03 (n=8). c) Structural view of amino acids that line the hydrophobic alcohol pocket in IRK1. d) Bar graph shows mean IC₅₀'s for MPD-dependent inhibition of IRK1 (n=8), IRK1-F47W (n=7), IRK1-L232W (n=7), IRK1-L245W (n=6), IRK1-L330W (n=6). There is no statistical difference compared to wild-type IRK1 (P > 0.05). e) Current-voltage plots are shown for GIRK2-PIP₂ (GIRK2 engineered with high affinity PIP₂ binding domain from IRK1) channels recorded in the presence of 20K (blue), 20K plus 1 mM Ba⁺⁺ (black) or 20K plus 100 mM MPD (red). f) Doseresponse curves for MPD-dependent inhibition of GIRK2-PIP₂ (solid circle), GIRK2-PIP₂-L257W (open circle) and GIRK2-PIP₂-S148T (solid triangle). Smooth curves show best fit using the Hill equation and having IC₅₀'s and Hill coefficients of 7.7 \pm 1.0 mM and 0.66 \pm 0.03 (n=5) for GIRK2-PIP₂, 5.2 ± 1.0 mM and 0.77 ± 0.04 (n=5) for GIRK2-PIP₂-L257W, and 147.0 ± 31.5 mM and 0.67 ± 0.05 (n=6) for GIRK2-PIP₂–S148T. All values are mean ± s.e.m.



Model for alcohol-dependent activation of GIRK channels. a) Bar graph Fig. 2.8 shows the mean percentage EtOH response (activation or inhibition normalized to wild-type) for a Trp mutation in four different channels, GIRK2-L257W (n=9), GIRK4-L252W (n=8), IRK1-L245W (n=8) and GIRK2-PIP₂-L257W (n=5). Only mutations in alcohol-binding pocket of wildtype GIRK channels affect the response to alcohol. b) Top, schematic of inward rectifier shows location of alcohol-binding pocket in cytoplasmic domains, two gates (G-loop and M2 transmembrane; black triangles) and pore-helix region (red ellipse). PIP₂ is enriched in lower leaflet of bilayer (orange). Below, molecular surface representations of the alcohol pocket without (Leu), with MPD (Leu+MPD) and modeled with L257W (Trp), using the IRK1-MPD structure as a guide. c) Left, alignment of the putative closed state of GIRK1 chimeric channel (GIRK1-closed; green) (PDB:2QKS) with the IRK1-MPD structure (grey) (PDB:2GIX). Spaghetti structures show two adjacent cytoplasmic subunits (subunits D and A) and the hydrophobic alcohol pocket at the cytoplasmic subunit interface. Right, zoom shows alignment of the N-terminal domain, $\beta D-\beta E$ and $\beta L-\beta M$ ribbons from the IRK1-MPD (grey), GIRK1-open (orange) and GIRK1-closed (green) structures. IRK1-MPD aligns better with the putative open state of GIRK1. Note the significant displacement in the βL - βM beta ribbon element (arrow) and the side-chains of hydrophobic amino acids in the two structures. GIRK1-closed but not GIRK1-open has a collapsed alcohol-binding pocket, due to interaction and rotation of F46 (IRK1-F47), L246 (IRK1-L245) and F338 (IRK1-Y337). GIRK1-L333 in the β L- β M domain, implicated previously in G $\beta\gamma$ gating of GIRK channels(Finley *et al.*, 2004; He *et* al., 1999; Ivanina et al., 2003), is shown for reference.



Fig. 2.S1 Dual modulation of GIRK2 by 1-PeOH. Example of inward K⁺ current for GIRK2 measured at –100 mV in response to 25 mM MPD or 1-PeOH. 1-PeOH inhibits (black arrow) the basal current and reveals a potentiated current (grey arrow) immediately following washout of 1-PeOH. If rate of deactivation is slower than that for unblocking, then the potentiated current reflects activated GIRK2 channels.



Fig. 2.S2 Assay to detect surface expression of mutant channels. HA-tagged channels were transfected in HEK cells and immunostained with anti-HA antibodies (unpermeabilized), followed by permeabilization and immunostaining with anti-GIRK2 antibodies. **a)** HA-GIRK2-Y58W expressed on the surface of unpermeabilized cells (red) as well as in the cytoplasm (green). **b)** GIRK2-I244W was only detected in permeabilized cells (green), indicating no surface expression.



Fig. 2.S3 Mutations L342 and Y349 in the βL-βM loop of GIRK2 reduce both alcohol and/or m2R-activated currents. Bar graphs show the mean response (%) for GIRK2 (dark grey, n = 34), GIRK2-L342A (black, n = 10) and GIRK2-Y349W (light grey, n = 10) in response to 100 mM 1-PrOH, 100 mM MPD, 100 mM EtOH, or 5 μM carbachol, normalized to Ba⁺⁺-sensitive basal current. **P* < 0.05 vs. wild-type. Substitutions at A, F, Y or W at L342 and A, T, L, F at Y349 produced little or no Ba⁺⁺ sensitive basal currents (< -1 pApF⁻¹).



Fig. 2.S4 Mutation in GIRK4 pore-helix converts 1-BuOH from an inhibitor to activator. a-b) Examples of currents for GIRK4* (S143T) (a) and GIRK4 wild-type (wt) (b) channels measured at -100 mV in response to 50 mM EtOH, 50 mM 1-PrOH, 50 mM 1-BuOH or 50 mM MPD or 1 mM Ba⁺⁺ in 20K solution. The Ba⁺⁺-sensitive basal currents were significantly larger for GIRK4*-(S143T) (-174 ± 25 pApF⁻¹, n = 7) than for wild-type GIRK4 (-9.57 ± 2.21 pApF⁻¹, n = 7). c) Bar graph shows mean percentage alcohol response normalized to Ba⁺⁺-sensitive basal current (n = 6-7).



Fig. 2.S5 Site for regulating sensitivity to alcohol-dependent inhibition. S86, which is the amino acid homologous to S148 in GIRK2, is located in the pore-helix of KirBac1.3. Two opposing subunits (labeled A and C) are shown from the putative closed state of the Kirbac1.3-GIRK1 structure (PDB: 2QKS) and with four K⁺ in the selectivity filter. Inset, zoom shows S86 from the pore-helix interacts with amino acids N57 and E112 from M1 and M2 transmembrane domains, respectively. There is no appreciable space to accommodate alcohol, suggesting this site influences an inhibition site located elsewhere in the channel.

References

Blednov, Y.A., Stoffel, M., Alva, H., and Harris, R.A. (2003). A pervasive mechanism for analgesia: activation of GIRK2 channels. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 277-282.

Blednov, Y.A., Stoffel, M., Chang, S.R., and Harris, R.A. (2001). Potassium channels as targets for ethanol: studies of G-protein-coupled inwardly rectifying potassium channel 2 (GIRK2) null mutant mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 298, 521-530.

Cardoso, R.A., Brozowski, S.J., Chavez-Noriega, L.E., Harpold, M., Valenzuela, C.F., and Harris, R.A. (1999). Effects of ethanol on recombinant human neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors expressed in Xenopus oocytes. J Pharmacol Exp Ther *289*, 774-780.

Clancy, S.M., Boyer, S.B., and Slesinger, P.A. (2007). Coregulation of natively expressed pertussis toxin-sensitive muscarinic receptors with G-protein-activated potassium channels. J Neurosci 27, 6388-6399.

Covarrubias, M., Vyas, T.B., Escobar, L., and Wei, A. (1995). Alcohols inhibit a cloned potassium channel at a discrete saturable site. Insights into the molecular basis of general anesthesia. J Biol Chem *270*, 19408-19416.

Dildy-Mayfield, J.E., Mihic, S.J., Liu, Y., Deitrich, R.A., and Harris, R.A. (1996). Actions of long chain alcohols on GABAA and glutamate receptors: relation to in vivo effects. British journal of pharmacology *118*, 378-384.

Dundas, J., Ouyang, Z., Tseng, J., Binkowski, A., Turpaz, Y., and Liang, J. (2006). CASTp: computed atlas of surface topography of proteins with structural and topographical mapping of functionally annotated residues. Nucleic acids research *34*, W116-118.

Finley, M., Arrabit, C., Fowler, C., Suen, K.F., and Slesinger, P.A. (2004). betaLbetaM loop in the C-terminal domain of G protein-activated inwardly rectifying K(+) channels is important for G(betagamma) subunit activation. J Physiol *555*, 643-657.

Ford, C.E., Skiba, N.P., Bae, H., Daaka, Y., Reuveny, E., Shekter, L.R., Rosal, R., Weng, G., Yang, C.S., Iyengar, R., *et al.* (1998). Molecular basis for interactions of G protein betagamma subunits with effectors. Science *280*, 1271-1274.

Hara, K., Lewohl, J.M., Yamakura, T., and Harris, R.A. (2001). Mutational analysis of ethanol interactions with G-protein-coupled inwardly rectifying potassium channels. Alcohol *24*, 5-8.

Harpaz, Y., Gerstein, M., and Chothia, C. (1994). Volume changes on protein folding. Structure 2, 641-649.

Harris, R.A., Trudell, J.R., and Mihic, S.J. (2008). Ethanol's molecular targets. Science signaling *1*, re7.

He, C., Zhang, H., Mirshahi, T., and Logothetis, D.E. (1999). Identification of a potassium channel site that interacts with G protein betagamma subunits to mediate agonist-induced signaling. J Biol Chem *274*, 12517-12524.

Ho, S.N., Hunt, H.D., Horton, R.M., Pullen, J.K., and Pease, L.R. (1989). Site-directed mutagenesis by overlap extension using the polymerase chain reaction. Gene *77*, 51-59.

Huang, C.L., Feng, S., and Hilgemann, D.W. (1998). Direct activation of inward rectifier potassium channels by PIP2 and its stabilization by Gbetagamma. Nature *391*, 803-806.

Huang, C.L., Slesinger, P.A., Casey, P.J., Jan, Y.N., and Jan, L.Y. (1995). Evidence that direct binding of G beta gamma to the GIRK1 G protein-gated inwardly rectifying K+ channel is important for channel activation. Neuron *15*, 1133-1143.

Inanobe, A., Matsuura, T., Nakagawa, A., and Kurachi, Y. (2007). Structural Diversity in the Cytoplasmic Region of G Protein-Gated Inward Rectifier K+ Channels Channels *1* 39-45

Ivanina, T., Rishal, I., Varon, D., Mullner, C., Frohnwieser-Steinecke, B., Schreibmayer, W., Dessauer, C.W., and Dascal, N. (2003). Mapping the Gbetagamma-binding sites in GIRK1 and GIRK2 subunits of the G protein-activated K+ channel. J Biol Chem *278*, 29174-29183.

Jenkins, A., Greenblatt, E.P., Faulkner, H.J., Bertaccini, E., Light, A., Lin, A., Andreasen, A., Viner, A., Trudell, J.R., and Harrison, N.L. (2001). Evidence for a common binding cavity for three general anesthetics within the GABAA receptor. J Neurosci *21*, RC136.

Jin, T., Peng, L., Mirshahi, T., Rohacs, T., Chan, K.W., Sanchez, R., and Logothetis, D.E. (2002). The (beta)gamma subunits of G proteins gate a K(+) channel by pivoted bending of a transmembrane segment. Mol Cell *10*, 469-481.

Kim, M.S., Repp, A., and Smith, D.P. (1998). LUSH odorant-binding protein mediates chemosensory responses to alcohols in Drosophila melanogaster. Genetics *150*, 711-721.

Kobayashi, T., Ikeda, K., Kojima, H., Niki, H., Yano, R., Yoshioka, T., and Kumanishi, T. (1999). Ethanol opens G-protein-activated inwardly rectifying K+ channels. Nat Neurosci *2*, 1091-1097.

Kruse, S.W., Zhao, R., Smith, D.P., and Jones, D.N. (2003). Structure of a specific alcohol-binding site defined by the odorant binding protein LUSH from Drosophila melanogaster. Nature structural biology *10*, 694-700.

Kunkel, M.T., and Peralta, E.G. (1995). Identification of domains conferring G protein regulation on inward rectifier potassium channels. Cell *83*, 443-449. Lewohl, J.M., Wilson, W.R., Mayfield, R.D., Brozowski, S.J., Morrisett, R.A., and

Harris, R.A. (1999). G-protein-coupled inwardly rectifying potassium channels are targets of alcohol action. Nat Neurosci *2*, 1084-1090.

Lovinger, D.M., White, G., and Weight, F.F. (1989). Ethanol inhibits NMDA-activated ion current in hippocampal neurons. Science 243, 1721-1724.

Lu, T., Ting, A.Y., Mainland, J., Jan, L.Y., Schultz, P.G., and Yang, J. (2001). Probing ion permeation and gating in a K+ channel with backbone mutations in the selectivity filter. Nat Neurosci *4*, 239-246.

Mihic, S.J., Ye, Q., Wick, M.J., Koltchine, V.V., Krasowski, M.D., Finn, S.E., Mascia, M.P., Valenzuela, C.F., Hanson, K.K., Greenblatt, E.P., *et al.* (1997). Sites of alcohol and volatile anaesthetic action on GABA(A) and glycine receptors. Nature *389*, 385-389.

Nishida, M., Cadene, M., Chait, B.T., and MacKinnon, R. (2007). Crystal structure of a Kir3.1-prokaryotic Kir channel chimera. The EMBO journal *26*, 4005-4015.

Nishida, M., and MacKinnon, R. (2002). Structural basis of inward rectification: cytoplasmic pore of the G protein-gated inward rectifier GIRK1 at 1.8 A resolution. Cell *111*, 957-965.

Pegan, S., Arrabit, C., Slesinger, P.A., and Choe, S. (2006). Andersen's syndrome mutation effects on the structure and assembly of the cytoplasmic domains of Kir2.1. Biochemistry *45*, 8599-8606.

Pegan, S., Arrabit, C., Zhou, W., Kwiatkowski, W., Collins, A., Slesinger, P.A., and Choe, S. (2005). Cytoplasmic domain structures of Kir2.1 and Kir3.1 show sites for modulating gating and rectification. Nat Neurosci *8*, 279-287.

Peoples, R.W., and Ren, H. (2002). Inhibition of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors by straight-chain diols: implications for the mechanism of the alcohol cutoff effect. Mol Pharmacol *61*, 169-176.

Ramaswamy, S., Eklund, H., and Plapp, B.V. (1994). Structures of horse liver alcohol dehydrogenase complexed with NAD+ and substituted benzyl alcohols. Biochemistry *33*, 5230-5237.

Reuveny, E., Slesinger, P.A., Inglese, J., Morales, J.M., Iniguez-Lluhi, J.A., Lefkowitz, R.J., Bourne, H.R., Jan, Y.N., and Jan, L.Y. (1994). Activation of the cloned muscarinic potassium channel by G protein beta gamma subunits. Nature *370*, 143-146.

Rishal, I., Porozov, Y., Yakubovich, D., Varon, D., and Dascal, N. (2005). Gbetagamma-dependent and Gbetagamma-independent basal activity of G proteinactivated K+ channels. J Biol Chem *280*, 16685-16694.

Riven, I., Kalmanzon, E., Segev, L., and Reuveny, E. (2003). Conformational rearrangements associated with the gating of the G protein-coupled potassium channel revealed by FRET microscopy. Neuron *38*, 225-235.

Sadja, R., Smadja, K., Alagem, N., and Reuveny, E. (2001). Coupling Gbetagammadependent activation to channel opening via pore elements in inwardly rectifying potassium channels. Neuron *29*, 669-680.

Sarac, R., Hou, P., Hurley, K.M., Hriciste, D., Cohen, N.A., and Nelson, D.J. (2005). Mutation of critical GIRK subunit residues disrupts N- and C-termini association and channel function. J Neurosci 25, 1836-1846.

Svensson, S., Hoog, J.O., Schneider, G., and Sandalova, T. (2000). Crystal structures of mouse class II alcohol dehydrogenase reveal determinants of substrate specificity and catalytic efficiency. Journal of molecular biology *302*, 441-453.

Thode, A.B., Kruse, S.W., Nix, J.C., and Jones, D.N. (2008). The role of multiple hydrogen-bonding groups in specific alcohol binding sites in proteins: insights from structural studies of LUSH. Journal of molecular biology *376*, 1360-1376.

Vivaudou, M., Chan, K.W., Sui, J.L., Jan, L.Y., Reuveny, E., and Logothetis, D.E. (1997). Probing the G-protein regulation of GIRK1 and GIRK4, the two subunits of the KACh channel, using functional homomeric mutants. J Biol Chem *272*, 31553-31560.

Weinhold, E.G., and Benner, S.A. (1995). Engineering yeast alcohol dehydrogenase. Replacing Trp54 by Leu broadens substrate specificity. Protein engineering *8*, 457-461.

Wick, M.J., Mihic, S.J., Ueno, S., Mascia, M.P., Trudell, J.R., Brozowski, S.J., Ye, Q., Harrison, N.L., and Harris, R.A. (1998). Mutations of gamma-aminobutyric acid and glycine receptors change alcohol cutoff: evidence for an alcohol receptor? Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *95*, 6504-6509.

Wickman, K.D., Iniguez-Lluhl, J.A., Davenport, P.A., Taussig, R., Krapivinsky, G.B., Linder, M.E., Gilman, A.G., and Clapham, D.E. (1994). Recombinant G-protein bg-subunits activate the muscarinic-gated atrial potassium channel. Nature *368*, 255-257.

Yi, B.A., Lin, Y.F., Jan, Y.N., and Jan, L.Y. (2001). Yeast screen for constitutively active mutant G protein-activated potassium channels. Neuron 29, 657-667.

Zhang, H., He, C., Yan, X., Mirshahi, T., and Logothetis, D.E. (1999). Activation of inwardly rectifying K+ channels by distinct PtdIns(4,5)P2 interactions. Nat Cell Biol *1*, 183-188.

Zhou, Q., and Lovinger, D.M. (1996). Pharmacologic characteristics of potentiation of 5-HT3 receptors by alcohols and diethyl ether in NCB-20 neuroblastoma cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther *278*, 732-740.

Zhou, W., Arrabit, C., Choe, S., and Slesinger, P.A. (2001). Mechanism underlying bupivacaine inhibition of G protein-gated inwardly rectifying K+ channels. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *98*, 6482-6487.

III. Insights into mechanism of alcohol mediated activation of GIRK channels

Abstract

Alcohols act on a hydrophobic pocket at the cytoplasmic domain of GIRK channels to activate the channels, however the mechanism of activation is not known. Here I use three novel approaches to gain insight into mechanism of alcohol mediated activation of GIRK channels. First, I show that thiol reactive reagents that have hydrophobic moieties activate GIRK2 channels when targeted to the hydrophobic pocket. This experiment strengthens our finding that this hydrophobic pocket is important for GIRK channel activation. Second, using a chemical biology approach to deplete PIP₂, I show that this phospholipid is required for alcohol mediated activation of GIRK channels. Third, using single channel recordings, I show that there is an increase in frequency of opening of GIRK channels when alcohol is applied. Work described in this chapter contributes to our fundamental understanding of how GIRK channels are activated by alcohols.

Introduction

Consumption of ethanol alters the normal activity of the brain by acting on numerous proteins including ion channels; This leads to a general inhibition of brain. GIRK channels are expressed ubiquitously in the brain, and are activated by ethanol and other alcohols. Activation of GIRK channels by ethanol would lead to hyperpolarization of neurons and would contribute to the general inhibition. Ethanol activates GIRK channels in neurons and in heterologous expression systems, however the mechanism of activation was previously not known. We have recently described in detail a hydrophobic pocket in the cytoplasmic domain of GIRK channels that when mutated led to loss of alcohol dependent activation of the channel (Chapter II). This led us to conclude that ethanol acts directly on GIRK channels to activate the channel. Here I will present new evidence from experiments with MTS reagents, depletion of PIP₂ and single channel analysis of alcohol mediated activation to support this conclusion and elaborate on a model for alcohol mediated activation of GIRK channels involving this hydrophobic pocket.

Results

Targeting MTS reagents to the alcohol pocket

Evidence for an alcohol pocket in GIRK channels was based on structural similarities between the alcohol bound hydrophobic pocket of IRK1 and that of GIRK2. Increasing the bulkyness of a conserved Leucine at hydrophobic pocket of GIRK2 and GIRK4 channels led to loss of alcohol mediated activation of this channel, leading to the conclusion that this pocket is important for alcohol mediated activation (see chapter II). Another method to validate this finding is to introduce thiol modifying reagents that contain hydrophobic groups at this pocket to determine whether this would lead to activation of GIRK currents. I hypothesize that MTS reagents with hydrophobic will mimic alcohol mediated activation of GIRK channels.

Methylthiosulfonate (MTS) is a thiol reactive group, and has been used extensively in studying the topology of ion channels (Akabas et al., 1994; Akabas et al., 1992; Holmgren et al., 1996). MTS reagents act on free thiol groups, such as the side chain of cysteine. To study the effect of chemical modification, we first needed to determine whether wild-type GIRK2 channels are sensitive to MTS reagents. We chose F-MTS (benzyl methylthiosulfonate) because this MTS reagent contains a bulky hydrophobic benzyl group. Previous studies with GIRK1 and GIRK2 suggested wild-type channels are sensitive to MTS reagents (Guo et al., 2002). Therefore, we wanted to examine the effect of F-MTS on wild-type GIRK2 channels. **Fig. 3.1a** shows that wild-type GIRK2 channels are potently inhibited by 10 μ M F-MTS. GIRK2 contains four cysteines in the cytoplasmic domains (none is near the pocket). We then mutated the four intracellular cysteines (C66V; C190T; C220S and C332V) in GIRK2 (we refer to this as GIRK2^(Cys-)). GIRK2^(Cys-) shows both ethanol and MPD activation (100 mM), like wild-type GIRK2. Importantly, GIRK2^(Cys-) shows a small increase in basal currents in response still to F-MTS (**Fig. 3.1b**). This small increase in basal current was not reversed by the reducing agent DTT, suggesting perhaps a secondary effect of the MTS reagent.

To introduce cysteine at the hydrophobic pocket, I first studied the L257C mutant in the GIRK2^(Cys-) channels, and discovered that the F-MTS had no effect on basal or alcohol activated currents(data not shown). L257 is at the bottom of the hydrophobic pocket, and is most likely not accessible to the reactive methylthiosulfonate group of F-MTS. We then examined S246, because it is located at the lip of the GIRK2 hydrophobic pocket, and the –OH group points into the pocket in the structure of GIRK2 channels (**Fig. 3.2a**) (Inanobe et al., 2007). GIRK2^(Cys-)-S246C shows both ethanol and MPD-activated currents (**Fig. 3.2b**). Exposure to 10 μ M F-MTS leads to a robust and significant increase in the basal GIRK current which

was partially reversed by addition of the reducing agent DTT (**Fig. 3.2c**). In addition, I observed that the rank order for activation is altered. Whereas the MPD mediated activation was larger than ethanol mediated activation before F-MTS, the MPD mediated activation is significantly blunted after the F-MTS application. Furthermore, this change in rank order was also reversed by the application of DTT (**Fig. 3.2d**). Similar changes in basal current and rank order of activation were seen with application of Tyrosine-MTS, but not with the membrane impermeant MTSET (data not shown)

GIRKs, PIP₂ and alcohol

Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) is a negatively charged phospholipid that is concentrated at the cytoplasmic leaflet of the plasma membrane (see review (Hilgemann et al., 2001)). This phospholipid is known to regulate ion channels such as the KCNQ, TRP, and the Kir channel family (Huang et al., 1998; Rohacs et al., 2005; Suh and Hille, 2002). Huang et al. showed that depletion of PIP₂ leads to a rundown of IRK and GIRK currents, which is recovered by application of PIP₂ to the cytoplasmic side of a excised patches containing these channels (Huang et al., 1998). This rundown can also be caused by addition of PIP₂ antibody that would chelate PIP₂ away from the channels. IRK1 channels are constitutively active, and have a strong affinity for PIP₂, evidenced by a relatively slow rundown of channel currents after addition of PIP₂ antibody from the cytoplasmic side (Huang et al., 1998). This is in contrast to a rapid rundown of GIRK channel currents in the presence of the

PIP₂ antibody. I hypothesize that PIP₂ is needed for activation of GIRK channels by alcohol.

To determine whether PIP₂ is required for alcohol mediated activation of GIRK2 channels, I used a chemical biology method to deplete PIP₂. This method utilizes the heterodimerization of protein domains from FK506 and mTOR (Suh et al., 2006). The LDR protein contains the rapamycin binding motif of FK506 that is fused to a lipid anchoring domain Lyn₁₁ while the CF-Inp54p protein has CFP fused to rapamycin binding domain of mTOR which then is fused to Inp54p, an inositol polyphosphate 5 phosphatase. When rapamycin is present in cells the CF-In54p will translocate, and deplete PIP₂ from the plasma membrane. To demonstrate that this system works in HEK293T cells I co-transfected LDR and the control CF protein which lacks the Inp54p. The CF protein is localized throughout the cytoplasm (Fig. **3.3a**). Addition of 50 μ M rapamycin translocates the CF protein to the plasma membrane, as seen by concentration of CFP at the plasma membrane (Fig. 3.3b). When GIRK2 containing cells are co-transfected with LDR and CF, addition of 50 μ M rapamycin has no effect on basal and alcohol induced currents (Fig. 3.3c). However, when GIRK2 containing cells are cotransfected with LDR and CFIn54P, addition of 50uM rapamycin leads to a rapid loss of 85% of GIRK2 basal currents, along with an 85% loss in alcohol induced currents demonstrating that localization of CFIn54p to the plasma membrane leads to a robust loss in basal and induced GIRK currents (Fig. 3.3d).

Single channel analysis of alcohol mediated activation of GIRK channels

I can utilize single channel analysis to further understand the mechanism of activation of GIRK channel by alcohols. At the single channel level, a macroscopic current I is defined as $I=NP_0i$, where N= number of channels, nP_0i , where n is number of channels, P_0 is the open channel probability and *i* is the unitary conducatance. An increase in macroscopic currents can occur by one of to three means 1) increase in the number of channels, this is in principle by insertion of ion channels to the plasma membrane. 2) Increase in open probability, which is measured by the time spent by an ion channel in the open state. There are several components of open channel probability; one is the frequency of opening, if the frequency of opening increases, the more likely the channel is in the open state. Second is the increase in mean open times, the longer the channel stays open, the larger the open channel probability. 3) Increase in unitary conductance occurs when more ions are conducted leading to increase single channel currents. Previous work shows that 100 mM ethanol increases the open probability but not the single channel conductance of GIRK1/2 channels. However, the mean open time was not measured in this study (Kobayashi et al., 1999).

To determine the single channel kinetic of GIRK2 channels in the presence of alcohol, I recorded single channel currents of GIRK2 in the absence and presence of 200 mM 1-propanol (**Fig. 3.4a**). The number of events detected for nine 45 second recordings were 3656 for basal currents and 8976 for 1-Propanol application. There is a PIP₂ infrequent basal opening of GIRK2 channels with the nP_o being 0.004±0.002, and when 1-Propanol was present the nP_o increased to 0.01±0.004. The average increase in nP_o was 2.75 fold when 1-Propanol was applied (**Fig. 3.4b**). However the further analysis of normalized mean open times showed that the time
constant τ did not change in the presence of the 1-propanol (**Fig. 3.4c**). Therefore, alcohol such as 1-Propanol increases the frequency, but not the mean open times of GIRK2 single channel currents.

Discussion

Targeting MTS reagents to the alcohol pocket

Work with MTS reagents show that targeting a hydrophobic MTS reagent to the GIRK2 hydrophobic pocket leads to channel activation. This suggests that the F-MTS behaves as a tethered alcohol, whose hydrophobic moiety interacts with the hydrophobic pocket to activate the channel. Secondly, the benzyl moiety changes the size of the pocket, interfering with activation by the larger MPD. Importantly, both the increase in basal currents and change in rank order are reversed by DTT. This finding validates the model; the hydrophobic pocket is important for GIRK channel activation. However, further experiments are needed to determine structural changes that occur at the hydropobic pocket that leads to activation of GIRK2 currents by F-MTS and alcohols.

GIRKs PIP₂ and alcohol

Experiment using the Rapamycin system to deplete PIP_2 demonstrates that PIP_2 is required for activation of GIRK2 currents by alcohol. This conclusion confirms the hypothesis that alcohol mediated activation is dependent on interaction of PIP_2 . This finding is similar to the findings showing that after PIP_2 rundown, addition of

Gβγ cannot recover GIRK channel currents, however addition of PIP₂ after Gβγ application led to robust GIRK channel currents, arguing that a Gβγ mediated activation of GIRK channel requires PIP₂ (Huang et al., 1998). Furthermore, Zhang et al. showed that application of Gβγ leads to a significantly slower rundown kinetics, suggesting that Gβγ increases the affinity of GIRK channel to PIP₂ (Zhang et al., 1999). Similar studies are needed to determine whether alcohols increases the affinity of GIRK channels to PIP₂, which subsequently leads to opening of the channel

Swapping a sequence of 38 amino acids from IRK1 to GIRK4* led to GIRK channels that are constitutively active channels that and have a high affinity for PIP₂ indicating (Zhang et al., 1999). This swapped domain contains the β C β D loop, which contains positively charged amino-acids that would be positioned near the cytoplasmic leaflet of the plasma membrane (Pegan et al., 2005). In fact a refined version of this chimera, in which only four amino acids were swapped from IRK1 to GIRK2 in the β C β D domain led to GIRK2 channels that were constitutively active with a large basal current (Aryal et al., 2009). We have used this mutant, GIRK2-PIP2, to show that alcohols, such as MPD does not potentiate GIRK channel currents (**Fig. 2.7**). Taken together, I conclude that PIP₂ is required for alcohol mediated activation of GIRK channels, and when GIRK2 channels are tightly bound to PIP₂ there is no further activation of GIRK2 currents. Therefore, PIP₂ binding is an essential step in activation of GIRK channels by alcohol.

Single channel analysis of alcohol mediated activation of GIRK channels

61

The increase in frequency of GIRK2 channel opening by alcohol is translated to the enhancement macroscopic GIRK currents. There is spontaneous opening of GIRK2 channels in the absence of alcohol; addition of alcohol facilitates this spontaneous opening. This could be achieved by decreasing the energy barrier for conformational changes at the hydrophobic pocket. Further experiments are needed to determine how the frequency of channel opening is increased. The concentration dependence of alcohol, and the temperature dependence on the frequency of opening should be investigated. Furthermore, studies of single channel kinetics of hydrophobic pocket and GIRK2-PIP₂ mutant is needed to determine the range of single channel behavior upon loss of activation and constitutive activation of GIRK2 channels respectively. Lastly, alteration in single channel kinetics during MTS-mediated activation could determine whether the mean open time is prolonged when the MTS-reagents are tethered to the hydrophobic pocket.

Acknowledgments

I thank Dr T Meyer for providing the LDR, CF, CFIn54p constructs. I thank the people in the Slesinger lab for invaluable technical help and suggestions to improve the work. Parts of this chapter were submitted as an abstract to be presented at the 54th Annual Biophysical Society meeting in 2010.

Materials and methods

MTS reagent modifications:

MTS reagents were obtained from Toronto Research Chemicals. Hydrophobic MTS reagents were resuspended in DMSO at 100 mM concentration. Resuspended MTS reagents were diluted to 10 µM, EtOH and MPD were diluted to 100 mM, and DTT was diluted to 10mM final concentration in 20K extracellular solution (Aryal et al., 2009). GIRK2 cDNA was transfected into HEK293T and whole cell currents were measured while holding membrane voltage at -100 mV and were sampled at 250 µs. Currents were analyzed using Clampfit 8 software. MTS reagents were applied for 10 seconds and allowed to reach steady state for additional 10 seconds. Percent activation was measured by measuring currents before MTS application and 20 seconds after MTS application and after DTT application. Ratio of MPD to Ethanol activated currents was obtained by dividing MPD activated currents by Ethanol activated currents.

Depletion of PIP₂

LDR, CF and CFIn54p constructs were kind gifts from Dr. T. Meyer. 0.8 μ g of these constructed were co-transfected with GIRK2 and whole cell patch clamp recordings were conducted as described previously (Aryal et al., 2009). Rapamycin was kind gift from Dr. M. Montminy. 50 mM Rapamycin was made up in Ethanol, and was then directly diluted into 20K solution giving the final concentration of 50 μ M Rapamycin. Translocation of CF proteins were imaged before and after application of 50 μ M Rapamycin using TILL photonics imaging system with a Nikon TE2000 microscope and DPSS 422 nm laser as described previously (Fowler et al., 2007).

Single channel measurements:

We studied HEK293T cells transfected with the cDNA for GIRK2. Cellattached single-channel recordings were conducted with high 150K in the internal and external solutions (in mM: 140 KCl, 2 MgCl2, 10 HEPES/Na (pH 7.2), 5 EGTA/K (pH 7.4, ~10 KOH)). The high K solution zeroes the resting membrane potential so that the patch potential is known more accurately. Single-channel currents were recorded at -80 mV. Because of the very low probability of opening it is possible that multiple GIRK2 channel currents were recorded, however, only patches with one conductance state were analyzed. Single-channel recordings were sampled at 10 kHz at -80 mV for 1 minutes of baseline activity and then 1 minutes with 200 mM 1-propanol in the bath. Single channel kinetics from 8 different cells where the last 45 seconds of basal and1-propanol applied recordings were used for analysis Currents were filtered at 1-2 kHz, open and closed channel times were derived from idealized traces (1/2 threshold criterion) using Clampfit 9.0 software. Open and closed time histograms were fit with one exponentials using Maximum Likelihood Estimate method of fitting and assessed for goodness of fit.

Figures



Fig. 3.1 Effect of MTS modification on wild-type GIRK2 and GIRK2^(Cys-) channels. A) Current response measured at –100 mV in response to 100 mM EtOH or MPD before and then after exposure to 10 μ M F-MTS. F-MTS inhibits wild-type GIRK2 channels. 1 mM Ba⁺⁺ shows Ba-sensitive basal current B) Current response measured for GIRK2^(Cys-) as described in A. GIRK2^(Cys-) shows little response to F-MTS. The small increase in basal current is not reversed by DTT (10 mM).



Fig. 3.2 F-MTS modifies GIRK2^(Cys-)-**S246C. A)** Left: ribbon structure shows the position of S246C at the lip of GIRK2 hydrophobic pocket. Center: Molecular representation of F-MTS. Right: prediction of structure of hydrophobic pocket upon F-MTS binding. **B)** Response of GIRK2^(Cys-)-S246C to 100 mM EtOH or MPD before or after exposure to 10 μ M F-MTS (A). Note increase in basal current with F-MTS and change in EtOH vs MPD response. DTT (10 mM) partially reversers the F-MTS induced change in current. **C)** Bar graph shows mean percentage increase in basal current following F-MTS for GIRK2^(Cys-) and GIRK2^(Cys-)-S246C channels n=5 . DTT does not reverse increase in basal current for GIRK2^(Cys-) but does for GIRK2^(Cys-)-S246C. **D)** Bar graph shows mean ratio of MPD and Ethanol activated currents. Addition of FMTS leads to significant loss of MPD/Ethanol ratio n=5 (**P* < 0.05 ANOVA)



Fig. 3.3 Effects of PIP_2 depletion on basal and alcohol induced currents. A) Eppifluroscent image of HEK293T cells transfected with LDR and CF shows CF protein is distributed throughout the cytoplasm B) CF protein is concentrated to the plasma membrane upon addition of 50uM Rapamycin C) addition of rapamycin has no effect on GIRK channel current in cells transfected with LDR and CF D) Addition of rapamycin leads to loss of basal and alcohol activated GIRK current in cells transfected with LDR and CF-in54p. CF-in54p depletes PIP₂ from the plasma membrane.





References

Akabas, M.H., Kaufmann, C., Archdeacon, P., and Karlin, A. (1994). Identification of acetylcholine receptor channel-lining residues in the entire M2 segment of the alpha subunit. Neuron *13*, 919-927.

Akabas, M.H., Stauffer, D.A., Xu, M., and Karlin, A. (1992). Acetylcholine receptor channel structure probed in cysteine-substitution mutants. Science *258*, 307-310.

Aryal, P., Dvir, H., Choe, S., and Slesinger, P.A. (2009). A discrete alcohol pocket involved in GIRK channel activation. Nat Neurosci *12*, 988-995.

Doyle, D.A., Morais Cabral, J., Pfuetzner, R.A., Kuo, A., Gulbis, J.M., Cohen, S.L., Chait, B.T., and MacKinnon, R. (1998). The structure of the potassium channel: molecular basis of K+ conduction and selectivity. Science *280*, 69-77.

Fowler, C.E., Aryal, P., Suen, K.F., and Slesinger, P.A. (2007). Evidence for association of GABA(B) receptors with Kir3 channels and regulators of G protein signalling (RGS4) proteins. J Physiol *580*, 51-65.

Guo, Y., Waldron, G.J., and Murrell-Lagnado, R. (2002). A role for the middle C terminus of G-protein-activated inward rectifier potassium channels in regulating gating. J Biol Chem *277*, 48289-48294.

Hilgemann, D.W., Feng, S., and Nasuhoglu, C. (2001). The complex and intriguing lives of PIP2 with ion channels and transporters. Sci STKE *2001*, re19.

Holmgren, M., Liu, Y., Xu, Y., and Yellen, G. (1996). On the use of thiol-modifying agents to determine channel topology. Neuropharmacology *35*, 797-804.

Huang, C.L., Feng, S., and Hilgemann, D.W. (1998). Direct activation of inward rectifier potassium channels by PIP2 and its stabilization by Gbetagamma. Nature *391*, 803-806.

Inanobe, A., Matsuura, T., Nakagawa, A., and Kurachi, Y. (2007). Structural Diversity in the Cytoplasmic Region of G Protein-Gated Inward Rectifier K+ Channels Channels *1* 39-45

Kobayashi, T., Ikeda, K., Kojima, H., Niki, H., Yano, R., Yoshioka, T., and Kumanishi, T. (1999). Ethanol opens G-protein-activated inwardly rectifying K+ channels. Nat Neurosci *2*, 1091-1097.

Kofuji, P., Davidson, N., and Lester, H.A. (1995). Evidence that neuronal G-proteingated inwardly rectifying K+ channels are activated by G beta gamma subunits and function as heteromultimers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *92*, 6542-6546.

Nishida, M., Cadene, M., Chait, B.T., and MacKinnon, R. (2007). Crystal structure of a Kir3.1-prokaryotic Kir channel chimera. The EMBO journal *26*, 4005-4015.

Pegan, S., Arrabit, C., Zhou, W., Kwiatkowski, W., Collins, A., Slesinger, P.A., and Choe, S. (2005). Cytoplasmic domain structures of Kir2.1 and Kir3.1 show sites for modulating gating and rectification. Nat Neurosci *8*, 279-287.

Rohacs, T., Lopes, C.M., Michailidis, I., and Logothetis, D.E. (2005). PI(4,5)P2 regulates the activation and desensitization of TRPM8 channels through the TRP domain. Nat Neurosci *8*, 626-634.

Sadja, R., Smadja, K., Alagem, N., and Reuveny, E. (2001). Coupling Gbetagammadependent activation to channel opening via pore elements in inwardly rectifying potassium channels. Neuron *29*, 669-680.

Suh, B.C., and Hille, B. (2002). Recovery from muscarinic modulation of M current channels requires phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate synthesis. Neuron *35*, 507-520.

Suh, B.C., Inoue, T., Meyer, T., and Hille, B. (2006). Rapid chemically induced changes of PtdIns(4,5)P2 gate KCNQ ion channels. Science *314*, 1454-1457.

Yi, B.A., Lin, Y.F., Jan, Y.N., and Jan, L.Y. (2001). Yeast screen for constitutively active mutant G protein-activated potassium channels. Neuron *29*, 657-667.

IV. Discussion

A model for alcohol mediated activation of GIRK channels

Alcohols activate GIRK channels by directly acting on hydrophobic pockets that are located at the cytoplasmic domain. Structural alignment of IRK1-MPD with GIRK1 "open" and GIRK1 "closed" shows that IRK1-MPD aligns well with GIRK1 "open" at this hydrophobic pocket, whereas hydrophobic amino-acids in GIRK1 "closed" would occlude an alcohol, such as MPD to bind to the pocket (**Fig. 2.8**). There are two gates in the cytoplasmic region of channels that would occlude K⁺ when closed, one is at the G-loop (Nishida *et al.*, 2007; Pegan *et al.*, 2005), and the second is at cytoplasmic side of the transmembrane region, where four alpha helix of TM2 domains of the tetrameric channel intersect (Doyle *et al.*, 1998; Nishida *et al.*, 2007; Sadja *et al.*, 2001; Yi *et al.*, 2001). The two gates are in close proximity to one another, near the PIP₂ binding site thus these three structural elements could couple to each other. Therefore, these elements could be components of a single cytoplasmic gate.

From the alignment of IRK1-MPD to GIRK1 closed and GIRK1 open, we can infer that IRK1-MPD structure that resembles a hydrophobic pocket of an alcoholbound and open channel. At rest, there could be an intrinsic but infrequent conformation change at the hydrophobic pocket, that leads to opening of the channel, alcohols acting at the hydrophobic pocket could then facilitate the conformation change which leads to increasing in frequency of channel opening. Channel opening requires PIP₂ and conformation changes at the G loop and TM2 cytoplasmic gates

71

that allow potassium ions to flow in and out of the cell. (See Fig 4.1 for a cartoon model)

It should be noted that one assumption that is placed in this model is that these are in fact the open and closed conformation of GIRK channels. This assumption is based on the fact that GIRK1 "open" conformation has the G-loop in a position that would allow conduction of K⁺ (Pegan *et al.*, 2005). Furthermore, the GIRK1 "open" channels were co-crystallized with a detergent molecule nonylglucoside, which was located at a putative PIP₂ binding site. This co-cyrstalization stabilizes amino-acids that are known to interact with PIP₂ (Nishida *et al.*, 2007). Moreover, the TM2 gate is closed in both of the Kir-Bac 3.1 GIRK1 chimeric channel structure and could be the result of the fusion of the cytoplasmic domain of an eukaryotic Kir channel with the transmembrane domains of a bacterial Kir channel (Nishida *et al.*, 2007). Crystal structures of full length GIRK channel with co-crystalized with and without alcohol could in determining the exact nature of open and closed conformations.

Convergence of alcohol and $G\beta\gamma$ activation at the hydrophobic pocket.

GIRK channels are activated by G-proteins and alcohol. The mechanism of activation of this channel has not been fully elucidated. I show that all of the substitutions made at that conserved Leucine at the βD - βE domain of the hydrophobic pocket leads to loss of loss of Carbachol mediated activation (Aryal *et al.*, 2009). Furthermoe, the βL - βM domain, which is a part of the hydrophobic pocket, has been implicated in G $\beta\gamma$ mediated activation (Finley *et al.*, 2004; He *et al.*, 1999;

Ivanina *et al.*, 2003). Together, these studies suggest that this hydrophobic pocket is important for G-protein and alcohol mediated activation. Therefore, similar conformational changes could occur at the pocket during alcohol and $G\beta\gamma$ mediated activation. Using fluorescent resonance energy transfer (FRET) Rivan *et al.* has shown that the N- and C-terminal domains of adjacent GIRK channel subunits increase in FRET, hence move closer, during $G\beta\gamma$ mediated activation (Riven *et al.*, 2003). The hydrophobic pocket in GIRK channels is at the interface of adjacent subunits (Aryal *et al.*, 2009). I predict that similar increase in FRET would occur upon alcohol mediated activation of GIRK channels. Future studies will have to utilize molecular rulers such as advanced fluorescent imaging techniques, and chemical modifications such as crosslinking to monitor the conformation change at this pocket.

Alcohol binding motifs

The hydrophobic pocket in GIRK channel is at water accessible subunit interface in the cytoplasmic domain. The pocket is made up of three different domains, a hairpin domain from the N-terminus, and two beta loop domains from the C-terminus. This pocket is markedly different from that of the putative GABA_A pocket and the crystallized alcohol-bound LUSH pocket (Harris *et al.*, 2008; Kruse *et al.*, 2003). In the LUSH pocket hydrophobic pocket is at interface of two alpha helix domains where hydropbobic interactions occur between hydrophobic amino acids of the protein and the hydrocarbons of ethanol (Kruse *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, hydrophilic interactions occurs between the –OH group of alcohol and hydrogen bond donating groups from sidechains –OH of serine and threonine, as well as from a

carbonyl group from the backbone (Kruse *et al.*, 2003). The hydrophobic pocket in inwardly rectifying K channels are formed by hydrophobic sidechains from three different domains, which interact with the hydrocarbons of alcohol, whereas the hydrophilic interaction is between the –OH group of alcohol and a carbonyl group of a proline(Aryal *et al.*, 2009; Pegan *et al.*, 2005). The carbonyl group of a proline (L256 in GIRK2) followed by a hydrophobic group, such as a leucine (L257 in GIRK2) could serve as a general alcohol binding motif. The increased structural rigidity and kink that is induced by a proline could serve to stabilize the H-bond donating carbonyl group, whereas the hydrophobic motif of Leucine could interact with hydrocarbons of alcohol. Although, the IRK1-MPD structure has been useful to investigate alcohol dependent activation of GIRK channels, an ethanol-bound GIRK channel structures would enhance our understanding of how this small alcohol interacts with the hydrophobic pocket.

Summary

This dissertation describes a novel mechanism of alcohol mediated activation of GIRK channels. I provide evidence that alcohols, such as ethanol, activate GIRK channels by acting on a hydrophobic pocket that is located at subunit interfaces of cytoplasmic domain. This activation is $G\beta\gamma$ independent, requires PIP₂ and increases the frequency of single channel opening. Moreover, I present evidence using thiol modifying reagents that targeting hydrophobic moieties to the pocket leads to activation of GIRK channels. Furthermore, I provide a tenable model of GIRK channel

activation in which alcohols facilitates opening of the channel by acting at the hydrophobic pocket.

Future perspective

It is my hope that the work I have presented in this dissertation provides the ion channel field a new model of how GIRK channels open. The outstanding question here is: what are exact conformational changes that occur at this hydrophobic pocket and at the cytoplasmic gates during channel activation? Novel techniques will be needed to monitor small conformation change at the hydrophobic pocket and at the gates during GIRK channel activation by alcohol. Furthermore, NMR studies that can determine structural changes in the presence of alcohol at this pocket can also be utilized. Future studies are also needed to determine the interplay between the hydrophobic pocket and PIP₂ binding domains, and the cytoplsamic gate. It is also important to determine whether $G\beta\gamma$ mediated activation and alcohol mediated activation involve similar conformational changes at the hydrophobic pocket and the cytoplasmic gates. Innovative thinking and development of new tools will lead to exciting new findings that stem from the work presented here.

Figures



Fig. 4.1 A model of mechanism of GIRK channel activation. Left, cartoon of GIRK channels in the closed conformation, with no PIP₂ interaction and the TM2 and G-loop gates occluding K⁺ from flowing through. Right, cartoon of GIRK channels in the open conformation with increased PIP₂ interaction, and TM2 and G-loop gates in the open configuration, and alcohol bound to the hydrophobic pocket. At rest, there is an intrinsic but infrequent opening of GIRK channels. Alcohols acting at the hydrophobic pocket could then facilitate the opening of GIRK channels Bottom: There is a structural rearrangement at the hydrophobic pocket, during channel opening. The hydrophobic pocket is comprised of N-terminal domain, the β D- β E domain, and β L β M domain at a subunit interface. How structural rearrangements at the hydrophobic pocket is translated into opening of the channel gates yet to be determined, and is designated by black arrows drawn on the open conformation.

References

Aryal, P., Dvir, H., Choe, S., and Slesinger, P.A. (2009). A discrete alcohol pocket involved in GIRK channel activation. Nat Neurosci *12*, 988-995.

Doyle, D.A., Morais Cabral, J., Pfuetzner, R.A., Kuo, A., Gulbis, J.M., Cohen, S.L., Chait, B.T., and MacKinnon, R. (1998). The structure of the potassium channel: molecular basis of K+ conduction and selectivity. Science *280*, 69-77.

Finley, M., Arrabit, C., Fowler, C., Suen, K.F., and Slesinger, P.A. (2004). betaLbetaM loop in the C-terminal domain of G protein-activated inwardly rectifying K(+) channels is important for G(betagamma) subunit activation. J Physiol *555*, 643-657.

Harris, R.A., Trudell, J.R., and Mihic, S.J. (2008). Ethanol's molecular targets. Science signaling *1*, re7.

He, C., Zhang, H., Mirshahi, T., and Logothetis, D.E. (1999). Identification of a potassium channel site that interacts with G protein betagamma subunits to mediate agonist-induced signaling. J Biol Chem *274*, 12517-12524.

Ivanina, T., Rishal, I., Varon, D., Mullner, C., Frohnwieser-Steinecke, B., Schreibmayer, W., Dessauer, C.W., and Dascal, N. (2003). Mapping the Gbetagamma-binding sites in GIRK1 and GIRK2 subunits of the G protein-activated K+ channel. J Biol Chem *278*, 29174-29183.

Kruse, S.W., Zhao, R., Smith, D.P., and Jones, D.N. (2003). Structure of a specific alcohol-binding site defined by the odorant binding protein LUSH from Drosophila melanogaster. Nature structural biology *10*, 694-700.

Nishida, M., Cadene, M., Chait, B.T., and MacKinnon, R. (2007). Crystal structure of a Kir3.1-prokaryotic Kir channel chimera. The EMBO journal *26*, 4005-4015.

Pegan, S., Arrabit, C., Zhou, W., Kwiatkowski, W., Collins, A., Slesinger, P.A., and Choe, S. (2005). Cytoplasmic domain structures of Kir2.1 and Kir3.1 show sites for modulating gating and rectification. Nat Neurosci *8*, 279-287.

Riven, I., Kalmanzon, E., Segev, L., and Reuveny, E. (2003). Conformational rearrangements associated with the gating of the G protein-coupled potassium channel revealed by FRET microscopy. Neuron *38*, 225-235.

Sadja, R., Smadja, K., Alagem, N., and Reuveny, E. (2001). Coupling Gbetagammadependent activation to channel opening via pore elements in inwardly rectifying potassium channels. Neuron *29*, 669-680.

Yi, B.A., Lin, Y.F., Jan, Y.N., and Jan, L.Y. (2001). Yeast screen for constitutively active mutant G protein-activated potassium channels. Neuron 29, 657-667.